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STATE OF NEW YORK
SUPREME COURT COUNTY OF ALBANY

JENNIFER WHITE, KATHERINE WEST, CHARLOTTE
WELLINS and ANNE REMINGTON,
Plaintiffs, VERIFIED
-against- COMPLAINT
Index No.

RJI No.

HON. ANDREW CUOMO, as Governor of the State of New
York, and the NEW YORK STATE GAMING
COMMISSION,

Defendants.

Plaintiffs, by their attorneys, O’Connell and Aronowitz, allege upon information

and belief as follows:

OVERVIEW OF THE CASE

1. This 1s an action for a declaratory judgment and permanent injunction to
declare Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016 of the State of New York unconstitutional and to
enjoin permanently the State and its agencies and officials from implementing Chapter 237.
Chapter 237, a copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit “A”, was signed into law by the
Governor on August 3, 2016, and purports to legalize and regulate “interactive fantasy
sports” gambling (which includes “daily fantasy sports™ [“DFS™]), and to allow DFS to be
operated by commercial for-profit business enterprises that register with and are approved
by the New York State Gaming Commission and adhere to the provisions of Chapter 237
and rules and regulations to be promulgated by the Commission.

2. Atrticle I, § 9 of the New York State Constitution, however, explicitly

prohibits such gambling. It reads in pertinent part as follows:



(E)xcept as hercinafter provided, no lottery or the sale of
lottery tickets, pool-selling, bookmaking, or any other
kind of gambling, except lotteries operated by the state ...
except pari-mutuel betting on horse races ... and except
casino gambling at no more than seven facilities ... shall
hereafter be authorized or allowed within this state; and
the legislature shall pass appropriate laws to prevent
offenses against any of the provisions of this section.
{emphasis supplied)

3. “Interactive fantasy sports” and, in particular, DFS, constitutes gambling
that falls within the express prohibition in Article I, § 9, which is part of the State
Constitution’s Bill of Rights. Subject to certain exceptions' not applicable hereto, Article
I, § 9 not only prohibits lotteries, pool-selling, book-making, “or any other kind of
gambling,” but also affirmatively directs the Legislature to enact laws to “prevent offenses
against” Article I, § 9. In enacting Chapter 237, however, the Legislature has done
precisely the opposite.

4. New York State’s chief law enforcement officer, the Attorney General of
the State of New York, has already declared in court filings that DFS violates Article 1, §
9 of the Constitution and successfully obtained an injunction to prevent such activity prior
to the adoption of Chapter 237. See People v. FanDuel, N.Y. Sup. Ct., Index No. 453056,
2015, decided December 11, 2015, A copy of said order is annexed hereto as Exhibit “B”.

The enactment of Chapter 237, however, does not and cannot amend the Constitution to

legalize what the Constitution prohibits.

! As indicated, the principal exceptions are for pari-mutuel wagering on horses to help support government,
lotteries operated by the State to benefit education, and casinos licensed by the State at no more than seven
focations statewide. N.Y. Const., Art. I, § 9{1). Also authorized are bingo and other games of chance
operated by non-profit entities for small amounts of money. N.Y. Const. Art. 1, § 9(2).

2




5. Boiled down to its essentials, interactive fantasy sports entails the placing
of bets (euphemistically referred to as “entry fees” by its proponents) by individuals who
enter into contests sponsored by an interactive sports “operator.” Currently the two
dominant DFS operators are FanDuel, Inc., a Delaware corporation whose principal offices
are in New York, and DraftKings, a Delaware corporation with its principal offices in
Massachusetts. Those operators supply an internet platform upon which the contests are
conducted based upon the rules those operators establish. “Entry fees” can be as high as
$10,600 per game for certain types of contests, and winning purses for the lucky bettor can
exceed $1 million. Winners of contests are those bettors who have guessed, in advance, as
to the composition of a winning roster of real-life athletes that make up a “fantasy team.”
Depending on how those particular athletes actually perform in subsequent (post-wager)
real-life athletic contests, the winning wagers are determined based upon a point system
established by the operator. Prizes (usually in the form of money) are awarded to bettors
who guessed at the best performing fantasy team (based upon the aggregate points amassed
by each athlete on the roster). A portion of the entry fees (bets) are kept by the operator as
the “rake” or “vig,” as profit, while the remainder is paid out in prizes.

6. Typically, roster selection is governed by a “salary cap” such that no
contestant can simply choose all the supposedly best athletes because the sum of individual
salaries assigned by the operator to athletes would exceed the salary cap established by the
operator. For example, in a fantasy sports baseball contest Albert Pujols of the Los
Angeles Angels might be assigned a salary of $10,000 while the overall salary cap for a

particular game might be only $50,000 such that a contestant selecting Mr. Pujols for his



fantasy team would only have $40,000 of fictional money [eft available to spend in
selecting the remainder of the roster.

7. No entrant (“bettor”) may select more than a limited number of players
from any single team. A contest, for example, could be based on the performance of
baseball players. The winner or winners would be determined based on the actual
subsequent performance over a specified period of time by a roster of actual baseball
players (a “fantasy team”) selected by a bettor whose roster was at or below the salary cap.
The operator might require a bet of $100 and take, for example, a 10% cut as its fee,
commonly referred to in gambling parlance as a “rake” or a “vig.” As part of the rules of
the contest, the operator might agree in advance to distribute $90,000 to the contestants
with $60,000 going to the highest scoring entrant who submitted the luckiest fantasy team,
and $20,000 to the second luckiest contestant and $10,000 to the third luckiest. Assuming
10,000 bettors at $10 per entry fee, the operator would make a profit of $10,000 off that
single contest while distributing $90,000 to the bettors, which would include 3 winners and
997 losers. If, however, there are more than 10,000 bettors, say, for example, 100,000, the
operator’s profits increase accordingly, while still paying out only $90,000 total. Luring
more bettors to make larger wagers as often as possible is the key to DFS’ profit growth,
just like any other form of commercial gambling.

8. Typically, the winning team in this DFS baseball contest might consist of
three outfielders, one each from the Yankees, Mets and Dodgers; four infielders, one each
from the Phillies, Cardinals, Red Sox and Pirates; a catcher from the Kansas City Royals;
and a designated hitter from the Chicago White Sox. To illustrate how scoring works, a

player might be awarded five points for a home run, four points for a triple, three for a

4



double, two for a single, or one for a base on balls. Additional points could be awarded for
runs batted in (RBI’s). Tlow those players performed in actual games over the designated
time span would determine the overall aggregate scores of each fantasy lineup as compared
to lineups submitted by other hopeful bettors. In all cases, however, the success of any
fantasy team would still be based upon the actual performance of real-life athletes
competing in actual real-life sporting events that take place after the roster has been
submitted and entries are closed. In all such cases, the bettors would have absolutely no
control over how the athletes subsequently perform, nor over other external factors that
might affect the outcome such as weather, field conditions, injuries, or bad bounces, all of
which necessarily exist independently of athletes’ ability.

9. As a quick visit to the websites of either FanDuel or DraftKings will reveal,
the foregoing example of a baseball fantasy sports game is simply one example of a
virtually infinite number of variations that can be applied not just to baseball, but to all
kinds of professional sports — e.g., professional football, basketball, hockey, golf, etc.

10. DF'S, as a subset of interactive fantasy sports, differs from more traditional
season-long fantasy sports which is played for fun as a social activity by and among friends,
family members or co-workers with no commercial middleman taking a profit. Season-
long fantasy games are usually played over the course of several months. Internet gambling
operators altered this model by condensing the timeframe to as little as a day or a weekend
and, just like a bookie, profit from the money bet by a participant, Moreover, the
unpredictable elements of a bad coaching decision, an injury, a bad bounce, a blown

referee’s call, or adverse weather event could have a more profound and immediate effect

on the outcome of a contest lasting only a day or a weekend.
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11. Interactive fantasy sports is clearly gambling just as it would be gambling
to bet on whether Albert Pujols would get 2 or more hits in the next game. The fact that
bets are placed on fictional “fantasy™ teams 1s irrelevant as the success of the fantasy team
is still based on the subsequent performance of real life athletes. Equally irrelevant is the
argument that DFS is more a game of skill because contestants who spend more time
studying past player performances and their relative values might enjoy a competitive edge
vis-g-vis other contestants in assembling a fantasy team. This is a non-sequitur and the
principal fallacy in the arguments advanced by DFS proponents. Skill and chance are not
mutually exclusive, and just as betting on a horse race can involve skill, the outcome
remains uncertain and a bet that one horse will win is still a gamble. Guessing on how an
athlete will actually perform in a subsequent real life game always involves chance. That
includes an “educated” guess. The prohibition in Article I, § 9 is all-inclusive in that it
prohibits “any other kind of gambling.” No one seriously argues that horse racing is not
gambling, despite the fact that an element of skill may be present. The same is true of
poker. The more sophisticated player will more likely than not defeat a novice, but there
is also the luck of the draw. Skill and chance co-exist. Indeed, on its website, last visited
on September 9, 2016, the New York State Council on Problem Gambling, funded by New
York State’s Office of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Services, defines “gambling™ as
“any activity (e.g.., a game of chance or skill) where an item of value is placed at risk in
an attempt to gain something of greater value™ (emphasis supplied). Furthermore, horse
racing, poker, and fantasy sports all can be played without wagering. In the commercial
context, however, two activities are occurring (1) the underlying event, and (2) gambling

on the outcome. It is the second element that Article 1, § 9 of the Constitution prohibits.
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12. The “skill” versus “chance” distinction is a false dichotomy conjured up in
an obvious effort both to circumvent a clear and unequivocal constitutional prohibition and
to prevent the people from exercising their exclusive right to decide whether the
Constitution should be amended to exclude DFS from the constitutional ban on gambling.?
To argue otherwise is a direct affront to common sense and the cardinal rule that words in
a Constitution should be given their common meaning when courts interpret them.,

13. According to the National Council on Problem Gambling, a 2012 study of
23,000 college student athletes (when DFS was in its infancy) reported that those who
played fantasy sports had a significantly higher percentage of gambling problems.
Gamblers Anonymous has added fantasy sports to its list of activities it defines as
gambling.

14,  Sheldon Adelson, the chief executive officer of the Las Vegas Sands and
one of the most prominent executives in the gambling business world unequivocally stated
that “daily fantasy sports is gambling. There is no question about it.” See “Exclusive:
Why Sheldon Adelson is Against Daily Fantasy Sports,”

hitps://ca.news.yahoo.com/exclusive-why-sheldon-adelson-is-against-daily-fantasy-

sports-144543169 himl.”

15, MGM Casinos Chairman Jim Murren said those who argue that daily
fantasy games are not gambling are “absolutely utterly wrong. Idon’t know how to run a
football team, but [ do know how to run a casino and this is gambling.” See “Gambling on

a Game of Skill: Debate Swirls Over Fantasy Sports,” Las Vegas Review Journal, July 11,

* A May 2016 statewide poll by Siena College showed voters opposed to allowing DFS by a 45-37 percent
margin. hitps:/www.siena.edu/news-events/article/plurality-says-corruption-still-top-end-of-sgssion-issue-
is-more-serious-in
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2015, htip://www.reviewjournal.com/business/casinos-gaming/sambling-or-game-skill-

debate-swirls-over-fantasv-sports

I6. In any event, whatever the New York Legislature might try to do to distort
the ordinary definition of “gambling” as a means to evade a Constitutional prohibition,
Chapter 237, as state legislation, cannot authorize the violation of federal law, the
Professional and Amateur Sports Protection Act (“PASPA™), 28 U.S.C. §§ 3701, el seq.
See NCAA v. Governor of New Jersey, No. 14-4546 (3d Cir. August 11, 2016).

17. The Professional and Amateur Sports Protection Act (Public Law 102-559,
codified at 28 U.S.C. §§ 3701-3704, inclusive) provides that “it shall be unlawtul for ... a
governmental entity to sponsor, operate, advertise, promote, license, or authorize by law
or compact .., a lottery, sweepstakes, or other betting, gambling or wagering scheme based
directly or indirectly ... on one or more competitive games in which amateur or
professional athletes participate, or are intended to participate, or on one or more
performances of such athletes in such games.” 28 U.S.C. § 3702.

18. Plaintiffs in this action are citizens who are residents and taxpayers of the
State of New York who either have gambling disorders or are relatives and family members
of such persons. Their heartbreaking stories include a litany of suffering marked by child
neglect, bankruptey, divorce, loss of homes and the agony of rehabilitation and relapse, all
directly caused and threatened to continue to be caused by DFS gambling. Under the Bill
of Rights of the New York State Constitution (Atticle I, § 9) they enjoy a Constitutional
right to be protected from gambling in this State. So do the citizens indirectly harmed by
the unconstitutional gambling Chapter 237 purports to authorize. This State’s hiéhest court
has ruled that the Constitutional prohibition against gambling “was adopted with a view
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toward protecting the family man of meager resources from his own imprudence at the
gambling tables.” International Hotels Corp. v. Golden, 15 N.Y.2d 9, 15 (1964). The
Legislature has failed them in that regard.

19. The Legislature may not amend the Constitution under the guise of
legislating. It cannot unilaterally define “gambling” to deviate from its ordinary and well-
understood meaning as used in the Constitution by excluding therefrom interactive fantasy
sports and, in particular, DFS. It cannot usurp the right of the People as any such
redefinition is the exclusive prerogative of the People via a Constitutional amendment
approved in a statewide referendum. See New York Constitution, Article XIX. That
process was not followed here.

20, Chapter 237 should therefore be declared unconstitutional and the
Defendant State officials and agencies should be permanently enjoined from implementing

it.

THE PARTIES

21. Plaintiff Jennifer White is a resident of Grand Island, Erie County, New
York, and is a citizen and taxpayer of the State of New York eligible to vote in any and all
elections.

22. Plaintiff White is the direct victim of gambling as her life was nearly ruined
by her father’s gambling addiction.

23. As early as 1992, when Plaintiff White was only 13 years of age, Ms.
White's father constantly patronized off-track betting facilities throughout Western New

York.




24, Plaintiff White’s mother was thereafter besieged by phone calls from

creditors, loansharks appearing at her door, cars being repossessed, all culminating in a
divorce.

25.  As late as 2011, when Ms. White’s mother died in a hospital as a result of
sepsis following an acute cellulitis infection, she learned that her father had accessed her
mother’s bank card, making withdrawals of approximately $1,100 while present at the
Seneca Niagara Casino in Niagara Falls.

26.  Over a ten-year period, Ms. White’s father amassed over $500,000 in
gambling losses.

27.  Plaintiff Katherine West is a resident, citizen, taxpayer and eligible voter of
the State of New York, She resides in the City of Buffalo, Erie County.

28.  Plaintiff West’s husband is a compulsive gambler who “maxed out” the
family’s credit cards, overdrew the checking accounts, cleaned out the savings account,
invaded the funds set aside for their children’s college fund, all of which directly affected
her health, causing depression, acute headaches, and stomach disorders which in turn
caused her to miss work, thereby exacerbating her own financial distress, all while
attempting to hide her husband’s problems from their daughters.

29. Ms. West was forced to take time off from work to search for him in casinos,
while struggling to cover his debts.

30.  Plaintiff Charlotte Wellins is a citizen, taxpayer and eligible voter in the
State of New York who resides in Wellesley Island, New York. She is the victim of
gambling as her husband was a compulsive gambler who signed his name to loans without

her knowledge.
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31.  Ms. Wellins’ husband’s gambling led to the loss of their home, which had
been mortgaged to the hilt, bankruptcy, divoree, and the forced uprooting of their children
from their home and schools, plus the loss of their college education funds.

32.  Plaintiff, Anne Remington, is a citizen and taxpayer of the Staie of New
York who resides in Jefferson County, and is eligibie to vote in all state elections.

33.  Ms. Remington is afflicted with a gambling addiction that nearly ruined her
life and her family. Article I, § 9 of the Constitution of the State of New York was adopted
to protect people like her.

34.  Ms. Remington’s initial game of choice was scratch-off instant lottery
tickets that started with an occasional purchase and then progressed to the point of lacking
money to buy groceries or gas for her family.

35.  Ms. Remington had been entrusted with control over her family’s finances
(checkbook, savings, everything).

36. By her own admission, Ms. Remington’s obsession with scratch-offs made
her, however, a liar, a cheat and a person she herself grew to hate.

37.  Ms. Remington invaded her family’s checkbook, then the savings account,
until both were depleted.

38.  Ms. Remington got to the point where she fended off creditors calling her
and turned off the home phone, and when her husband inquired as to why it was unplugged,
blamed it on the family’s pet cat.

39.  The power company threatened to turn off Ms. Remington’s power, cable,

internet and phone service because of unpaid bills.

11




40. When Ms, Remington’s husband inquired as to what was happening, she
blamed it on a bookkeeping error on the part of the public utilities serving her residence.

41.  Ms. Remington kept the books in her husband’s business and ultimately he
learned the truth when his business was lost.

42.  Things got so bad that on February 25, 2005, Ms. Remington was arrested
for writing bad checks on an account that her husband had closed.

43. By that time, Ms. Remington had already been attending gambling
addiction support groups, but would continue to stop to gamble on her way to meetings.

44.  Ms. Remington has been “clean” for the past twelve years, but she is always
concerned about a relapse, especially now that online access to DFS brings a virtual casino
into her living room.

45.  Any increase in Ms. Remington’s ability to access gambling, such as the
legalization of daily fantasy sports, would only make her more vulnerable to a relapse,

46.  If a proposition were on the ballot to amend the New York Constitution to
authorize daily fantasy sports, Ms. Remington would vote against it.

47.  Plaintiffs White, West, Wellins and Remington are all opposed to the
proliferation of gambling and would vote against any proposed constitutional amendment
to exempt interactive fantasy sports and DFS from the prohibitions against gambling
currently embodied in Article |, § 9 of the Constitution of the State of New York, which
was enacted to protect them from being victimized and fleeced by gambling operators.

48.  Defendant Andrew Cuomo is the duly elected and serving governor of the

State of New York, with his principal offices located in the City and County of Albany,
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and as such he is responsible, inter alia, for adhering to his oath of office which requires

him to uphold and defend the Constitution of the State of New York.

49.  Defendant New York State Gaming Commission (the “Commission”) is a
public body created within the Executive Department pursuant fo § 102 of the Racing, Pari-
Mutuel, Wagering and Breeding Law, with its principal offices located in Schenectady
County, New York.

50.  Under Article 14 of the Racing, Pari-Mutuel Wagering and Breeding Law,
enacted pursuant to Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016, the Commission is charged with
regulatory oversight of interactive fantasy sports, as defined in Section 1401(1)(a), (b) of
the Racing, Pari-Mutuel Wagering and Breeding Law.,

51.  The Defendant Commission’s oversight and regulatory responsibility
includes the registration of interactive fantasy sports operators, the issuance of permits to
such operators to conduct interactive fantasy sports contests, and the promulgation of rules
and regulations governing the operation of interactive fantasy sports, including a
requirement that registered operators of interactive fantasy sports contests provide

information on their websites concerning assistance for “compulsive play.”

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

An Internet Gambling Prohibition Inspires a New Form
of Internet Gambling

52.  In 2006, the U.S. Congress passed the Unlawful Internet Gambling
Enforcement Act (“UIGEA™) to expand the mechanisms available to federal prosecutors

secking to enforce anti-gambling laws against internet-based gambling companies. This
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statute primarily introduced new consequences for financial institutions that process illegal
gambling transactions.

53.  UIGEA explicitly left all other federal and state gambling laws intact, and
provided that: “No provision of this subchapter shall be construed as altering, limiting, or
extending any Federal or State law or Tribal-State compact prohibiting, permitting, or
regulating gambling within the United States.”

54, Former Congressman, Jim Leach, one of the sponsors of UIGEA, has
publicly said there was no intent to allow internet gambling in the form of DFS. Rep.
Leach stated: “The assumption was that while unconstrained Internet gambling could
change the nature of America’s savings and investment patterns, fantasy sports would bea
‘de minimus’ footnote. No one ever conceived of it being a large scale activity or that it
could transition into one-day contests.” “The only unique legal basis provided fantasy
sports by UIGEA is its exemption from one law enforcement mechanism where the burden
for compliance has been placed on private sector financial firms,” Leach said. “But it is
sheer chutzpah for a fantasy sports company to cite the law as a legal basis for existing.
Quite precisely, UIGEA does not exempt fantasy sports companies from any other
obligation to any other law ... what is self-evident is that UIGAEA exempted fantasy sports
from one specific law enforcement mechanism but not from the broad sweep of law itself.”
T.each added that fantasy sports companies are still bound by state and federal laws on

sports betting, wire transfers, anti-trust and securities laws, among others.”

3 “Former congressman says DFS is ‘cauldron of daily belting,” Associated Press, Oct. 12, 2015,
hitp://bisstory.ap.org/article/ Tb3afld8 b4 {059e8b30 1 ad B} 784/former-congressman-savs-dfs-cauldron-
dailv-belling
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55.  In 2008, an online betting entrepreneur named Nigel Eccles and a few
partners founded the online wagering platform Hubdub. That site let users bet on the
outcome of news events. As a former employee at two online gambling companies in the
United Kingdom, Eccles reporiedly saw potential in “combining the fun and excitement of
online gambling with the mass interest in news.” As Eccles put it, the idea was to “gamble
on what you believe will happen. You can bet on any subject under the sun.”

56, Hubdub, however, had a fatal flaw, Because UIGEA made processing
wagers involving real money illegal in the United States, the site operated with virfual
currency. This apparently provided insufficient excitement for bettors, and the news-
betting component folded a few years later.

57.  Eccles, however, seized on language in UIGEA that exclqded certain
“fantasy sports and simulations” from the definition of “bet or wager.” Although previously
not a fan of fantasy sports or American sports, in 2009, he concocted a new betting game
for the U.S. market - dubbed daily fantasy sports (“DFS”).

58. Hubdub quickly spun off a new company, FanDuel, to accept bets with real

money.

By Exploiting a Loophole, DFS Created a New Business
Model for Online Gambling

59.  DFS is a new business model for online gambling. The DFS sites
themselves collect wagers (styled as “fees”™), set jackpot amounts, and directly profit from
the betting on their platforms. DFS’ rules enable near-instant gratification to players,
require no time commitment, and simplify game play, including by eliminating all long-
term strategy.
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60. In several fundamental respects, DFS represents a clear departure from

season-long fantasy sports as heretofore described in Paragraph 10:
a) First, DFS games run on a daily and weekly basis. Scoring depends
on the performance of particular athletes in a given week, a given weekend, on a
given night, or even a given tournament or race (as with golf or NASCAR). This

allows for faster-paced games that require less time commitment,

b) Second, DFS games allow no trading; no dropping players; and no
adjusting lineups. Players must “lock in” or finalize their lineup by a particular
deadline. After the lineup is locked, a DFS player can do nothing but watch as the
performance of athletes in real-world games determines whether he or she won.

c) Third; DFS uses neither of the competitive draft formats, i.e. either
the “snake” or the auction draft. Instead, it uses a salary cap. In a salary cap draft,
the site assigns each athlete a theoretical value (a “salary”). Bettors can fill their
team with players until they have exhausted their salary cap or allocation. Thus, the
same athlete can appear on multiple teams.

61.  The “salarics” assigned to athletes constitute odds roughly reflecting how
the DFS operator (e.g., FanDuel and DraftKings) expects a particular athlete to perform
over a given time pefiod.

62.  The quick time frame of DFS and the ability to set the lineup only once
eliminates any of the strategic elements associated with managing a traditional fantasy
team over the course of a season. As compared to traditional fantasy sports, DFS’ rules
also éliminate any strategy associated with drafting good players first because the same

players can appear in every lineup.
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63.  As FanDuel exhorted on its website, with DFS: “The format simplified. The
winning amplified. And the money? Let’s just say your season-long league won't pay out
$75 million a week.”

64,  Rather than a new type of fantasy league, DFS simply devised another way
to bet on sports by bringing internet gambling directly into the homes of New Yorkers.

65. Casinos and bookmaking operations in Nevada and non-U.S. jurisdictions
with legalized sports gambling have long allowed “prop” (short for proposition) bets—i.e.,
bets on statistics and milestones that occur in given games or in connection with particular
players.

66.  Indeed, FanDuel and DraftKings recognize that DFS is akin to sports prop
betting. FanDuel advised on its website: “By taking into account over-under lines, as well
as money lines and player props, FanDuel players gives [sic] themselves more
opportunities to win.” DraftKings’ website advised: “Player props are also an excellent
source of information for daily fantasy owners, Props are Vegas’s best guess for a player’s
production — basically their projection for him in fantasy.”

67.  In a parlay, a bettor attempts to correctly predict the outcome of several
variables as part of a single wager. A DFS lineup is a parlay bet in which the relevant
variables are the athletes.

68.  As the Chief Executive Officer of one DFS company put it, the large format

DFS games are like “a sports betting parlay on steroids.”

FanDuel Enters the Sports Gambling Business

69.  Early on, FanDuel recognized the potential of DFS as a business model for

online betting.
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70.  As FanDuel sought to grow its business it told one investor its target market
was male sports fans who “cannot gamble online legally.” FanDuel observed that its users
have a “higher preponderance to gambling”; more than half of respondents to a FanDuel
customer survey said they bet or gamble online for real money.

71.  FanDuel offers several game styles to appeal to a variety of tastes.

72.  FanDuel offers “Guaranteed Prize Pool” or “GPP” games, 50/50 games, and
head-to-head games. Each game is structured differently.

a) GPP games. The GPP games are the most popular based on numbers
of individual players, most lineups and highest payouts. Some GPPs can accept up
to several hundred-thousand lineups from DFS players, with the highest-scoring
lineups winning major cash prizes. To play, GPPs cost anywhere from less than a
dollar to upwards of $5,000 to submit a single wager. In one of the largest GPPs,
known as the “Millionaire Maker,” DFS players wager $25 per lineup for a chance
to win a jackpot of up to $1 million.

b) 50/50 games. 50/50 games allow DFS players to effectively double
thetr money if a lineup places in the top half of point-scoring lineups.

c) Head-to-Head games. In head-to-head games, two DFS players

enter a lineup against each other, and the lineup with more points wins. Bettors can

wager up to $10,600 in head-to-head games. The bettor with the winning lineup

gets the pot, minus the cut FanDuel takes.

73.  FanDuel takes a cut of all wagers, which, using poker slang, FanDuel
executives at times refer to as its “rake.” The rake constitutes the company’s primary source

of revenue—ranging from about 6% to more than 14%.
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74.  As part of its marketing, FanDuel allows DES players to play certain games

for free. Borrowing another term from poker, these free games are called “freerolls.”

75.  Except for limited exceptions, FanDuel requires players to put money at risk
for a chance to win cash prizes.

76.  FanDuel accepts wagers in connection with a wide range of sports. The
company’s offerings include: Major League Baseball, NFL football, NBA basketball,

college football, and college basketball.*

How Betting and Scoring on FanDuel Works

77. A DFS wager constitutes a prediction by a DFS player about the
combination of athletes (i.e., the lineup) that he or she believes may score the most points
in a particular DFS game. After finalizing his lineup, a DFS player cannot control or
influence whether the athletes he chose will perform at, above, or below expectations.

78 Given this inherent uncertainty, ceriain DFS players will enter hundreds, or
even thousands, of unique lineups in the hopes that one or more combinations of athletes
will score well, or that he or she will even play. Chapter 237 seeks to limit the number of
entrants.

79 The FanDuel rules identify several circumstances where even the athletes
on the field may have no influence over the number of DFS points scored. For example,
the points associated with a particular athiete may be reduced or zeroed out due to:

a) rained out, postponed, suspended, or shortened game;

4 The legislation challenged herein, Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016, otherwise allowing D¥'S does prohibit
betting on amateur sports (i.e., coliege and/or high schoo! athletics), and also would limit the number of
entries by any contestant.
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b) the league failing to correct official game statistics before declaring

a winner; or

c) a trade or injury involving the athlete that occurs after a contest is
created.

80.  The scores applied to any DFS lineup directly reflect the real-game
performance of athletes.

81..  Until a tally of the final box scores is available, the winning DFS wager or
wagers are unknown and unknowable.

82.  FanDuel’s rules for each major sport (professional football, baseball,
basketball, and hockey) specify that FanDuel will “wait until all the player statistics have
been reported by our third party stats provider. This lets us ensure that the final box scores
are complete.”

83.  Similar to other types of sports betting, DFS players will try to predict or
“handicap” whether the odds offered by the bookmaker (i.e., the salary FanDuel assigns a
given athlete) accurately reflect the expected outcome (i.e., how well that athlete will
perform in an actual game).

84.  Just as the most sophisticated sports handicapper has no control over
whether the team he chose will beat the point spread, a DES player has no control over
whether the lineup he chose will perform.

85. As a FanDuel spokesperson aptly observed, the results in DFS are

“contingent on the positive performance of all of their players” in actual games.
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FanDuel Markets Itself as a Game Anyone Can Win

86. In a bid for players and market share, FanDuel dramatically increased
advertising spending in the fall of 2015. FanDuel spent a reported $46.9 million on
television commercials that aited almost 9,500 times in the month of September 2015
alone.

87.  FanDuel’s advertisements emphasized the ease of winning massive
jackpots, including through purported testimonials from ordinary people stating how easy
it is to win big.

88.  Featuring vignettes of different purported winners, one FanDuel ad
provided: “I’ve won over $29,000 on FanDuel. Nothing special about me. The difference
is, is that I played, and they didn’t ... Even the novice can come in and spend 1 or 2 dollars
and win 10, 20 thousand dollars.”

89.  Another FanDuel advertisement urged: “It’s simple: choose a dollar league
or play for more, . . FanDuel pays out over $75 million a week —more than any other site.”

90.  The ease and simplicity of playing and winning was further emphasized on
the FanDuel website. On its homepage, FanDuel promised:

a) “No season-long commitment.”
b) “WIN REAL CASH — Paying out expected $2 Billion in real cash
prizes this year. And get instant payouts as soon as contests end.”

91. FElsewhere on its website, FanDuel featured a promotional video for its
“High Roller” contest in Las Vegas. Billed as “the ultimate tournament for high rollers,”
the promotional video highlighted DFS users being showered with cash or with champagne
while holding a giant check for one million dollars.
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FanDuel Operates a Gambling Business

92, Since 1894, Article I, Section 9 of the New York State Constitution has
expressly prohibited bookmaking and all other forms of sports gambling (apart from an
exception for pari-mutuel betting on horseracing).

93.  Until the recent enactment of Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016, the New
York Penal Law had long recognized crimes for promoting gambling, including
bookmaking, and for maintaining gambling devices and records. Gambling was defined,
in part, as wagering on a “future contingent event” not under the bettor’s control or
influence or a “contest of chance.”

94, Recognizing that these laws and similar laws in other jurisdictions were
directly contrary to the DFS model, FanDuel’s U.S. website maintained that DFS was
“considered a game of skill and, therefore, legal.” |

95.  Yet, in the United Kingdom, where sports gambling is legal, FanDuel had
taken the necessary regulatory steps to operate as an online sports betting company. In an
October 30, 2015 article in the Herald Scotland, FanDuel said it planned to launch in the
UK. soon. FanDuel’s application with the UK. Gambling Commission to operate
“gambling software” was listed as in progress on the Commission’s website. In a related
statement, a FanDuel spokesperson said the application “is a part of the regulatory
compliance process to offer fantasy sports in the UK market.”

96.  When presenting to investors, FanDuel was even more direct about its
relationship to gambling. For example, in an investor presentation, FanDuel noted it had
hired the online poker company Full Tilt’s head of affiliates to help FanDuel acquire new
users. Several of FanDuel’s affiliates were gambling oriented, including companies like
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Vegas Insider and BetVega, a sports betting and handicapping website and FanDuel’s ninth

largest affiliate.

97.  Elsewhere, FanDuel conceded to investors that when FanDuel surveyed its
users, almost twenty-percent of respondents who acknowledged they bet or gamble said
their friends would describe them as “a bit of an addict.”

98.  The investing community likewise views FanDuel and DFS companies as
gambling operations. For example, in a presentation prepared for the Fantasy Sports Trade
Association’s winter conference in 2014 (the “FSTA Presentation™), Eilers Research, a
gaming industry research firm, compared DFS to the “comparable industries” of casinos,
lotteries, and sports betting.

99. In an analysis provided to one investor, FanDuel benchmarked its
performance to that of Bwin.Party, one of the largest online gambling companies in the
world and whose core business is sports gambling. Among other comparisons, the
spreadsheets dropped the pretense of referring to the bets on the FanDuel site as “fees,”
comparing FanDuel’s total “stakes” by quarter to the equivalent numbers for Bwin Party’s
Sports Betting operation.

100. As reflected in the FSTA Presentation, DFS has had success converting
casual gamblers—Ilike those who play the lottery—into DFS players. One slide observed
that the large-prize GPPs run by DraftKings, FanDuel, and others were already “attracting
new users & serving as a new alternative for some ticket/lottery players.”

101.  Yet just as in poker, blackjack, and horseracing, a small percentage of
professional gamblers manage to use research, software, and large bankrolls to exiract a
disproportionate share of DFS jackpots. With blackjack, professional players profit at the
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expense of the casino. With poker and DFS, professional players, also known as “sharks,”
profit at the expense of casual players, also known as “minnows.”

102, According to the New York Attorney General, of the top 10,000 players by
cumulative amount wagered, 74% lost money over 2013 and 2014.

103.  On any given day, FanDuel will accept substantially more than five wagers
placed by New York residents. These wagers total significantly more than $5,000.

104. Based on numbers from FanDuel, over 250,000 individual New York

residents are registered with the company as of September 2015.

Gambling Addiction Associated with DFS is an
Increasingly Serious Problem

105. Experts in gambling addiction and other compulsive behaviors have
identified DFS as a serious and growing threat to people at-risk for, or already struggling
with, gambling-related problems.

106.  DFS is an especially powerful draw for young males who are increasingly
seeking help for compulsive gambling related to DFS with counselors and appearing at
Gamblers Anonymous meetings.

107.  For those struggling with gambhing addiction or vulnerable to it, certain
structural characteristics make DFS particularly dangerous.

108.  AsKeith Whyte, the Executive Director of the National Council on Problem
Gambling (“NCPG”) explains, these structural characteristics—which are generally absent

from season-long fantasy leagues—include:

the ability for players to place large bets; the chance for
players to win large payouts; the high speed of play (or, put
another way, the relatively short interval between the placing
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of a bet and the determination of the outcome of the bet); and
the perception of skill as a determinant in the outcome of the
wager.

109. Dr. Jeffrey L. Derevensky, Director of the International Centre for Youth
Gambling Problems and High-Risk Behavior at McGill University, notes that, among other
things, false or misleading representations of the skill involved in DFS “can lead players
to a preoccupation with DFS, chasing of losses, and developing symptoms and behaviors

associated with a gambling disorder.”

FanDuel Attracts Scrutiny as Gambling Business

110.  After incorporating in 2009, FanDuel quictly attracted investments, but
remained relatively unknown outside of the subculture of DFS players and the investor
community.

111. The FSTA Presentation estimated that just 2.5% of participants in
traditional fantasy leagues played DFS.

112, As the president of the FSTA observed earlier this year, as “recently as two
years ago everything changed. [DFS] was close to zero, a nascent pastime,”

113. FanDuel began an advertising blitz designed to expand DFS beyond its
niche market and grow market share as quickly as possible.

114. Forall of2014, FanDuel spent just over $2 million on advertising with NBC
Universal/Comecast. In just the first ten months of 2015, FanDuel spent over $12 million
with NBC Universal/Comcast.

115.  On October 5, 2015, The New York Times published an expose titled

“Scandal Erupts in Unregulated World of Fantasy Sports.” The story focused on DFS’
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fairness and strongly suggested that a DraftKings employee had improperly used inside
proprietary information to improve his chances of winning on FanDuel.

116. On October 6, 2015, the Office of the New York Attorney General
(“NYAG™) opened an investigation into FanDuel’s operations.

117. Reports soon emerged indicating that various other federal and state
enforcement agencies and regulators were probing the operations of both FanDuel and
DraftKings.

118. Gambling officials in several states raised questions as to the legality of the

DFS business.

Washington State

119.  Until the recent enactment of Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016, Washington
State and New York State laws had identical statutory definitions of “gambling” and
“contest of chance.” Relying on those definitions, the Washington State Gambling
Commission has previously declared that online “fantasy sports wagering is not authorized
for play in Washington State.”

120, While continuing to offer games in New York, neither DraftKings nor
FanDuel accepted wagers in Washington State. On October 21, 2015, Chris Stearns,
Chairman of the Washington State Gambling Commission, hightighted this inconsistency,
observing in a tweet: “NY definition of ‘contest of chance” & ‘gambling’ same as WA’s .

.. Yet DFS offered in NY but not WA.”
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Michigan
121, On September 1, 2015, the Chairman of the Michigan Gaming Control

Board stated that that DFS is “illegal under current Michigan law.”

Georgia
122.  On September 23, 2013, citing the gambling prohibitions in the Georgia
state constitution and criminal laws, the Georgia Lottery Corporation demanded that the
two rival DFS companies explain “how it is that FanDuel and DraftKings are able to

lawfully operate fantasy sports games in the State of Georgia.”

Nevada

123,  On October 15, 2015, the Nevada Gaming Control Board issued a public
notice announcing that DFS constituted gambling. The notice stated, among other things,

that:

because DFS involves wagering on the collective
performance of individuals participating in sporting events,
under current law, regulation and approvals, in order to
lawfully expose DFS for play within the State of Nevada, a
person must possess a license to operate a sports pool issued
by the Nevada Gaming Commission.

124, In a memorandum dated October 16, 2015, the Office of the Nevada
Attorney General issued a formal opinion supporting the decision of the Nevada Gaming

Control Board. The opinion concluded:

In short, daily fantasy sports constitute sports pools and
gambling games. They may also constitute lotteries,
depending on the test applied by the Nevada Supreme Court.
As a result, pay-to-play daily fantasy sports cannot be
offered in Nevada without licensure.
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125. FanDuel and DraftKings stopped accepting wagers in Nevada a few hours

after the decision of the Nevada Gaming Control Board.

Illinois

126. On October 16, 2015, a spokesperson for the Illinois Gaming Board
expressed the Board’s view that DI'S is illegal in lilinois. The Board sought a formal
opinion from the Illinois State Attorney General, which has since been issued.

hitp://www.legalsportisreport.com/7015/ illinois-ag-savs-dfs-is-gambhing/

Other States

127.  On information and belief, bills have been introduced in at least 21 states to
legalize DFS but have either failed or are on hold. They arc Alabama, Arizona,
Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, HaWaii, Ilinois, Towa, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland,
Minnesota, Nebraska, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Vermont,

Washington, West Virginia and Wisconsin. See hitp://www.legalsportsreport.com/dfs-

bill-tracker/

National Collegiate Athletic Association (“NCAA”)

128.  On August 27, 2015, the NCAA sent a cease-and-desist letter to FanDuel
objecting to DFS games involving college sports.

129. The NCAA’s letter provided that DFS is “inconsistent with our values, by-
laws, tules and interpretations regarding sports wagering,” and may violate the UIGEA,

the Professional and Amateur Sports Protection Act, and state gambling laws.
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130.  On September 22, 2015, the NCAA reportedly told college athletic directors
that the NCAA considers DFS to be gambling, and that athletes found to violate a ban on
playing DFS would face a suspension from college sports of no less than one year.

131, FanDuel continued to run DFS games connected with college sports
contrary to the NCAA’s specific demand until it finally agreed to stop doing so after the

end of the 2016 NCAA College Basketball Tournament.

DraftKings Enters the Sports Gambling Business

132, The history, rapid development and mode of operation by DraftKings is
strikingly similar to that of FanDuel.

133.  Early on, Jason Robins, the CEO and co-founder of Draft Kings, recognized
the potential of DFS as a business model for online betting, just as its major competitor,
FanDuel, had also recognized the potential.

134.  Shortly after founding DraftKings, Robins reportedly started a thread in the
online forum reddit.com in which he explained: "This concept where you can basically
‘bet’ your team will win is new and different from traditional leagues that last an entire
season.” (emphasis added).

135.  Elsewhere on the thread, Robins emphasized: "The concept is different from
traditional fantasy leagues. Our concept is a mash[-]up between poker and fantasy sports.
Basically, you pick a team, deposit your wager, and if your team wins, you get the pot.”
(emphasis added).

136.  This is reflected in DraftKings marketing, with DFS promising "rapid-fire

contests" of:
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much shorter duration than the traditional season-long
leagues and require no team management after the draft.
Salary cap draft format takes just minutes to complete,
unlike the hours-long snake drafts in traditional leagues. We
offer new contests every day of the season, and our winners
are crowned nightly. Payouts happen immediately after the
games - no more waiting until the end of the season to collect
winnings!

137. Like FanDuel, DraftKings offers several game styles to appeal to a variety

of tastes.

138, Like FanDuel, DraftKings offers "Guaranteed Prize Pool" or "GPP" games,

50/50 games, and head-to-head games. Each game is structured differently.

a) GPP games. The GPP games are the most popular based on numbers
of individual players, most lineups and highest payouts. Some GPPs can accept up
to several hundred-thousand lineups from DFS players, with the highest-scoring
lineups winning major cash prizes. To play, GPPs cost anywhere from less than a
dollar to upwards of $5,000 to submit a single wager. In one of the largest GPPs,
known as the "Millionaire Maker," DFS players wager $20 per lineup for a chance
to win a jackpot upwards of $1 million.

b) 50/50 games. 50/50 games allow DFS players to effectively double
their money if a lineup places in the top half of point-scoring lineups.

c) Head-to-Head games. In head-to-head games, two DES players

enter a lineup against each other, and the lineup with more points wins. Bettors can
wager up to $10,600 in head-to-head games. The bettor with the winning lineup

gets the pot, minus the cut DraftKings takes.
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139. Like FanDuel, DraftKings takes a cut of all wagers, which, using poker
slang, DraftKings executives at times refer to as its "rake." The rake constitutes the
company's primary source of revenue-ranging from about 6% to more than 14%.

140. Robins agreed in an interview earlier in 2015 that, although he preferred the
term "commission," DraftKings' cut constitutes a "vig," betting slang for the charge taken
by a sports bookié.

141.  As part of its marketing, DraftKings, like FanDuel, allows DFS players to
play certain games for free. Borrowing another term from poker, these free games are called
"freerolls."

142.  Freeroll games do not typically offer cash prizes, but may award the winner
a spot in a cash prize game.

143.  Except for limited exceptions, DraftKings, like FanDuel, requires players
to put money at risk for a chance to win cash prizes.

144. T.ike FanDuel, DraftKings accepts wagers in connection with a wide range
of sports. The company's offerings include: Major League Baseball, NFL. football, NBA

basketball, PGA golf, Major League Soccer, NASCAR, and Mixed Martial Arts.

How Betting and Scoring on DraftKings Works Much
Like FanDuel

145.  As at FanDuel, a DFS wager in a DraftKings contest constitutes a prediction
by a DFS player about the combination of athletes (i.e., the lineup) that he/she believes
may score the most points in a particular DFS game. After finalizing his/her lineup, a DFS
player cannot control or influence whether the athletes he/she chose will perform at, above,

or below expectations.
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146. Like FanDuel, given this inherent uncertainty, certain DraftKings DFS
players will enter hundreds, or even thousands, of unique lineups in the hopes that one or
more combinations of athletes will score well, although Chapter 237 would limit the
number of lineups.

147. Like FanDuel, the DraftKings rules identify several circumstances where
even the athletes on the field may have no influence over the number of DFS points scored.
For example, the points associated with a particular athlete may be reduced or zeroed out
due to:

a) rained out, postponed, suspended, or shortened game;
b) the league failing to correct official game statistics before

DraftKings declares a winner; or

c) a trade involving the athlete that occurs too close to when lineups
lock.

148.  Asat FanDuel, the scores applied to any DFS lineup directly reflect the real-
game performance of athletes.

149,  As at FanDuel, until a tally of the final box scores is available, the winning
DFS wager or wagers in a DraftKings contest are unknown and unknowable.

150. DraftKings' rules for each major sport (professional football, baseball,
basketball, and hockey) specify that: "DraftKings will wait until all of the final box scores
have been reported for each contest's games to ensure that the final results are accurate.”

151.  Similar to other types of sports betting, and just like FanDuel, DFS players

in DraftKings contests will iry to predict or "handicap" whether the odds offered by the
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bookmaker (i. e. the salary DraftKings assigns a given athlete) accurately reflect the

expected outcome (i.e. how well that athlete will perform in an actual game).

152. Just as the most sophisticated sports handicapper has no control over
whether the team he chose will beat the point spread, a DFS player in a DraftKings contest
has no cortrol over whether the lineup he or she chose will perform.

153. InaNovember 13, 2015 court filing, DraftKings observed that the success

of DFS lineups "depends on the combined performance” of real-world athletes.

DraftKings Markets Itself as a Game Anyone Can Win

154. 1In a bid for players and market share, DraftKings dramatically increased
advertising in the fall of 2015. DrafiKings alone spent a reported $81 million on television
commercials that aired more than 22,000 times in the lead-up to the NFL season, August I,
2015 through September 14, 2015.

155. In commercial-after-commercial, DraftKings' advertisements emphasized
the ease of winning massive jackpots.

156, One DraftKings ad promised: " ... taking home your share is simple: just
pick your sport, pick your players, and pick up your cash. That's it. It's the simplest way of
winning life-changing piles of cash.”

157.  Another DraftKings television commercial explained: "They make winning
easier than milking a two-legged goat ... Do you want to be a fantasy football hero? Do you
want it to be easy and fun with a shot to win millions?"

158. "The giant check is no myth" urged another DraftKings ad " ... BECOME

A MILLIONAIRE!"
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159. The ease and simplicity of playing and winning was further reinforced on
the DraftKings' website. Among the "5 GREAT REASONS” to play DFS on DrattKings:
a) "No commitment- get your sweat on in the industry's highest paying
guaranteed tournaments." (emphasis added)
b) "Build your team in only minutes and watch your scores update live

online." {emphasis added)

DraftKings Operates a Gambling Business

160. Recognizing that New York’s Constitution prohibits gambling and is
directly contrary to the DFS model, DraftKings' U.S. website maintains that DS "is a skill
game and is not considered gambling."

161.  Yet, in the United Kingdom, where sports gambling is legal, DrattKings has
taken the necessary regulatory steps to operate as a legitimate online sports betting
company. In an August 17, 2015 press release, DraftKings announced it had received a
license to operate in the U.K . The release neglected to mention the name of the entity that
issued the license (the U.K. Gambling Commission) or the business categories in which
the license entitled DrafiKings to compete (gambling software and pool-betting).

162.  The DraftKings' CEO was more straightforward in his 2012 reddit thread,
explaining that DraftKings operates in the “gambling space” (emphasis supplied).

163. When presenting to investors, DraftKings is even more direct about is
relationship to gambling.

164.  For example, in an investor presentation, DraftKings used slides on casinos,

online poker, and sports betting to showcase DraftKings' "Market Opportunity™:
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a) Slide 10: "Global opportunity for online betting and casino market

estimated at ~$27B now, ~$36B by 2018," which charts the revenue growth in the

"Global online poker market" and in the "Global online betting and casino

markets"; and,

b) Slide 11: "Sports Wagering Vertical is a large addressable market,"
which highlights the billions of dollars in revenue from legal and illegal sports
betting in the United States.

165. DraftKings business model is directly modeled on other gambling ventures.
In his 2012 reddit thread, Robins desctibed DFS as a "mash[-Jup between poker and fantasy
sports." DraftKings, Robins explained, makes its money in a way that "is almost identical
to a casino.”

166. Converting gamblers to DFS and associating DraftKings' brand with
gambling ventures is central to its growth strategy.

167. DraftKings signed sponsorship deals with well-known gambling events and
venues, including the World Series of Poker, the World Poker Tour, and-in a deal with the
New York Racing Association-the Belmont Stakes, the third and final leg of the Triple
Crown.

168.  One DraftKings executive-Jon Aguiar, who is himself a former professional
poker player--credits poker players with a good part of DraftKings' rise, explaining to
LegalSportsReport.Com that they pick up DFS quickly: "Once they get to DraftKings, they
already know how to deposit, they understand how a bonus works, they can navigate the

lobby [i.e., the wagering system] with ease.”

35



169. DraftKings embedded keywords related to gambling in the code on its
website. This led search engines like Google to suggest DraftKings to users looking for

"

gambling. For example, DraftKings used keywords like "'fantasy golf betting," "weekly

LU L]

fantasy basketball betting, weekly fantasy hockey betting," "weekly fantasy football

"o non

betting," "weekly fantasy college football betting," "weekly fantasy college basketball
betting," "Fantasy College Football Betting," "daily fantasy basketball betting," and
"Fantasy College Basketball Betting,"

170.  As reflected in the FSTA Presentation, DFS has had success converting
casual gamblers-like those who play the lottery-into DFS players. One slide observed that
the large-prize GPPs run by DraftKings, FanDuel, and others were already "attracting new
users & serving as a new alternative for some ticket/lottery players."

171.  DraftKings data show that 89.3% of DFS players had an overall negative
return on investment for 2013 and 2014.

172. On any given day, DraftKings will accept substantially more than five
wagers placed by New York residents. These wagers total significantly more than $5,000.

173. Based on numbers from DraftKings, over 150,000 individual New York
residents placed bets with the company between April 25, 2012 and October 25, 2015.

174.  According to documents shared with a potential DraftKings investor,
numerous DFS players struggling with gambling addiction have called customer service to
cancel their accounts and to plead with DraftKings to permanently block them from
playing. DraftKings' records show customer inquiries from DFS players seeking assistance

with subjects like "Gambling Addict do not reopen," "Please cancel account. I have a

gambling problem,"” and "Gambling Addiction needing disabled account.”
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DraftKings Attracts Scrutiny as Gambling Business

175.  After incorporating in 2012, DraftKings quietly attracted investments, but
remained relatively unknown outside of the subculture of DFS players and interested
investors,

176. The FSTA Presentation estimated that just 2.5% of participants in
traditional leagues played DFS.

177.  As the president of the FSTA observed earlier this year, as "recently as two
years ago everything changed. [DFS] was close to zero, a nascent pastime.”

178. In 2015, DraftKings began an advertising blitz designed to expand DFS
beyond its niche market and grow market share as quickly as possible.

179. For all of 2014, for example, DraftKings spent just over $1 million on
advertising with NBC. In just the first ten months of 2015, DraftKings spent about $21
million with NBC Universal/Comcast.

180. Recently, and in the wake of the enforcement actions heretofore taken by
the New York Attorney General, DraftKings has dramatically toned down its media
advertising and carefully avoided using language that alludes to or suggests that it is
engaged in gambling, all in recognition of the fact that its previous marketing was an
admission of what it was actually doing.

181. On October 5, 2015, The New York Times published an expose titled
"Scandal Erupts in Unregulated World of Fantasy Sports” that introduced DFS for the first
time to many non-players. The story focused on DFS' fairness and strongly suggested that
a DrafiKings employee had improperly used inside proprietary information to improve his
chances of winning on FanDuel.
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182. On October 6, 2015, the Office of the New York Attorney General
("NYAG") opened an investigation.

183. In a special to the New York Daily News dated November 19, 2015, New
York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman accused both FanDuel and DraftKings of
operating a “massive, illegal gambling operation,” stating that they “take a cut of every
bet” in their daily fantasy sports operations and “that is what bookies do,” quoting the CEO
of DraftKings who suggested that it operated in “gambling space” and that its revenue
model was “identical to a casino.” Schneiderman characterized the argument that DFS
games are “games of skill and are therefore legal” as “nonsense,” quoting from the National
Council on Problem Gambling that estimated “The annual costs of gambling addiction in
the United States at about $7 billion, including crime, incarceration, and bankruptey.”

184. According to DraftKings’ own estimate obtained by the New York State
Attorney General, during the course of that office’s investigation of DraftKings, the
estimated size of the DFS market in the United States and Canada grew from $20 million
in 2011 to between $3 and $4 billion by 2015, with a projected growth to somewhere
between $17 and $22 billion by 2017.°

185. On November 10, 2015, the New York Attorney General’s Office sent
identically worded letters to Jason Robins, the Chief Executive Officer of DraftKings, Inc.,
and Nigel Eccles, CEO of FanDuel, Inc., demanding that their companies “cease and desist
from illegally accepting wagers in New York State in connection with daily fantasy sports.”

Copies of those letters are annexed hereto as Exhibits “C” and “D”, respectively. Those

5 See People v. DrafiKings, N.Y. Sup. Ct,, N.Y. Ct. Index No. 453054/2015, NYCEF Document 9, Exhibit
LEK,’,
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letters stated, inter alia, that the “illegality of DFS is clear from any reasonable

interpretation of our laws, beginning with the New York State Constitution.” The Attorney

General’s letter went on to specifically cite Article [, § 9.

The Attorney General Successfully Brings Legal Action
Against FanDuel and DraffKings

186. Thereafter, on November 17, 2015, the New York Attorney General filed
separate lawsuits in New York State Supreme Court (New York County) against both
DraftKings and FanDuel alleging, infer alia, that their activities violated Article I, § 9 of
the Constitution and the provisions of the Penal Law (Article 225) enacted pursuant to the
mandate in Article I, § 9 of the Constitution to enact laws to prevent gambling. The lawsuit
also contained causes of action alleging that both FanDuel and DraftKings had engaged in
false and deceptive advertising and consumer fraud.

187. On December 11, 2015, Supreme Court, New York County (Mendez, 1),
granted the Attorney General’s motions in both cases for a preliminary injunction enjoining
and restraining both DraftKings, Inc. and FanDuel, Inc. from “doing business in the State
of New York [and from] accepting entry fees, wagers or bets from New York consumers
in regards to any competition, game or contest run on [Defendants’| websites.” People v.
FanDuel, Inc., New York Sup. Ct., N.Y. Cty. Index No. 43056/15, decided December 11,
2015, See Exhibit “B”.

188. In so ruling, the court stated that the New York Attorney General had
“cstablished a likelihood of success warranting injunctive relief,” that the Attorney General
“has a greater likelihood of success on the merits under New York Constitution Article 1,

§9,” and that the “balancing of the equities are in favor of the New York Attorney General
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of the State of New York due to their [sic] interest in protecting the public, particularly
those with gambling addictions.” Id., slip op. at 9.

189. At the same time, the Court denied FanDuel’s and DraftKings® applications
for an injunction in companion cases they had filed against the Attorney General seeking
to prevent any enforcement action he initiated. The Court also denied DrafiKings® and
FanDuel’s subsequent application for a stay pending appeal.

190. OnMarch 21, 2016, FanDuel and DraftKings suspended their operations in
New York and a day later, New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman issued a
statement on Yahoo! Daily Fantasy Sports stating “that FanDuel and DraftKings will
follow the law and stop taking bets in New York State and that Yahoo! will do the same”
{emphasis supplied).

The Legislature Enacts Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016
and Daily Fantasy Sports Starts Up Again

191. In the meantime, bills were introduced in both houses of the New York
Legislature which ultimately culminated in the enactment of Chapter 237 of the Laws of
2016. Chapter 237 included a “legislative finding™ that interactive fantasy sports are not
games of chance, but rather games of skill and are, therefore, not “gambling” that would
be subject to the prohibitions in Article 225 of the Penal Law, which was enacted by the
Legislature pursuant to the directive in Article I, § 9 of the Constitution that the Legislature
adopt laws to prevent gambling. See New York Racing, Pari-Mutuel Wagering and
Breeding Law, § 1400(1), (2) as added by Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016.

192.  Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016 also empowered the New York Gaming

Commission to register operators and permit them to conduct interactive fantasy sports on
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platforms over the interet that would allow them to accept bets from New York residents,
all subject to rules and regulations to be promulgated by the Commission. The law also
permitted existing operators to continue their present activity with temporary permits until
the Commission adopted permanent regulations.’

193. Despite the attempt to except interactive fantasy sports from the prohibition
against gambling, the legislation had all the earmarks of other legislation authorizing
gambling, including (1) a minimum age for contestants, (2) limiting users to a single
account, (3) requiring operators to enable users to exclude themselves from contests, and
(4) mandating operators to provide information regarding assistance for compulsive
players.

194. Based on that legislation, the Attorney General entered into stipulations of
partial discontinuance of the State’s lawsuits against FanDuel and DratKings, relinquishing
claims related to the illegality of gambling while preserving those related to false
advertising and consumer fraud.

195. Following passage of the legislation and even before the Governor signed
it into law, Attorney General Schneiderman issued a press release dated June 18, 2016
stating “that it will now be my job to ... defend [the law],” notwithstanding his prior
statement that FanDuel and DraftKings were accepting “bets.” As a result, FanDuel and

DraftKings, along with several other temporary permittees, are once again fully operational

6 By letters dated August 22, 2016, the Commission issued temporary permits to FanDuel, DraftKings,
Yahoo!, Inc., Fantasy Draft LLC and Star Street, Inc. On September 13, 2016, the Commission issued
additional temporary permits to iTeam Network, DraftDay, Synkt Games, Inc. (doing business as
letsRUMBL)} and Fantasy Aces LP. All these businesses will be the beneficiaries of an unconstitutional law
at the expense of the vast majority of New Yorkers who bet and lose playing DFS.
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in New York just in time for the advent of the National Football League’s regular 2016
season which “kicked off” on September 8, 2016,

196, The New York Gaming Commission will also be spending taxpayers’
dollars to implement the legislation and exercise regulatory and enforcement oversight with
respect to interactive fantasy sports.

197.  Daily fantasy sports poses an immediate and serious threat to the State and,
in particular, to those with gambling addictions and to the youth of this State, as
emphasized by New York’s Attorney General who stated: “Daily fantasy sports may be a
particularly pernicious form of'illegal gambling because it is so easy to access. Players can
lose lots of money with a few touches of their smartphone — any time, any place, drunk or
sober ... [I]t is extraordinarily difficult to verify the age of a gambler when they are nothing
more than an online entity.” New York Daily News, November 19, 2015. “Attorney
General Eric Schneiderman: Daily Fantasy Sports Bluff the Law in N Y.”

hitp://www.nvdailynews.com/new-vork/ag-schneiderman-bad-gamble-bluft-law-ariicle-

1.2441071

AS AND FOR A FIRST, SEPARATE AND
COMPLETE CAUSE OF ACTION, PLAINTIFFS
ALLEGE AS FOLLOWS:

198.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege all the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint
as if fully set forth herein.

199.  Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016 of the State of New York is in direct
violation of Article I, § 9 of the Constitution of the State of New York in that it purports to
not only exempt from the prohibition against gambling activity that is clearly gambling,

but also to authorize such gambling.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter a judgment
declaring Chapter 237 of the Laws of 2016 of the State of New York null and void, and
that Defendants, their agents, and others working under or pursuant to their direction and
control be enjoined from implementing any of its provisions or expending taxpayer dollars
to implement any such provisions. Plaintiffs further request that this Court award such
other further and different relief as it deems warranted, including, but not limited to, legal

fees to Plaintiffs and/or their counsel, along with the costs and disbursements associated

with this action.

DATED: October __, 2016
Albany, New York

Yours, etc.

JENNIFER WHITE
KATHERINE WEST
CHARLOTTE WELLINS
ANNE REMINGTON

By:

Cornelius D. Murray, Esq.
O’CONNELL AND ARONOWITZ
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Office and P.O. Address
54 State Street
Albany NY 12207-2501
(518) 462-5601

GADATAUealth Department\CDM\Daily Fantasy Sports Lawsuit\Semmons and Complaint 2016-10-04.docx
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STATE OF NEW YORK )
)ss.:
COUNTY OF ALBANY )

CORNELIUS D. MURRAY, ESQ., being duly sworn, deposes and says that he is
an attorney-at-law and is a member of the law firm of O'Connell and Aronowitz, P.C.,
attorneys for the Plaintiffs; that he has read the foregoing Complaint and knows the
contents thereof; that the same is true to the knowledge of deponent, except as to those
matters therein stated to be alleged upon information and belief, and as to those matters
he believes it to be true,

The reason why this verification is made by Deponent and not by the Plaintiffs, is
that the Plaintiffs do not reside within the County of Albany, which is the county where
Deponent has his offices.

Comnelius D. Murray, Esq.

Sworn to before me this
day of , 2016,

Notary Public, State of New York
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Juna 14, 2016
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read onge and referrsd to the Committes on Racing and Wagering

IN ACT to amend ths racing, pari-mutuel wagering and broeding Jlaw, in
ralation to the registration and regulation of interactive fantasy
sports contesks

The People of the ditate of New York, represented in Senate and Assem-
bly, dp enact as followa:

gection 1. The raclng, pari-mucuel wagering and breeding law ia

amanded by adding a new article 14 to read as follows:
ARTICLE 14
INTERACTIVE FANTASY SPORTE

sagtion 1400. Legislaidive findings and purpose,

1401, Definitions,

1402, Registration,

1403, Soope of reqistration review,

1404, Required safequards, minimum stendards,

1405, Powers and duties of the conmission,

1406. Annpual report.

1407, dtate tax.

1408, Additional regulatory costa,

1409, Disposition of takes.

1410, Determination of tax liabdlity,

1413, Contesta authorized.

1412, contests prohibited.

§ 1400, Legiglative findings and purposse, 1, 'the legislabtvure hereby
finds and declares that:

{a) TInterachtive fantasy sports are not games of chance because they
conzist of fantasy or simulation sports games or contests in whigh the
fantasy or simulation sports teams are selected based upon the akill apd
knowledge of the pariicipants and pot based on the ourrent membership of
ar, actuzl team that 48 a member of an amateur or professional sporte

(b) Interaoktive fantasy wports copbbests ara wnot wagers on future
contingent events not undex the gonbestanta® contrel or ipfluance
because coentestants have conktrol over which players they choose and the
edtcome of eath contest is not dependent tpon the pexformance of any cne
player or any one actual team, The outcdeme of any Fantasy sports contast

BYXPLANATION--Matter in italies (underscored) is new, matter In brackets
[~ is old law to be ocmitted,
1BD15896-03-0C
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does not corrempond to the oubcoms of any one aporting event. Instead,
the ocutoome depends ou how the performanges of parbicipanta’ fanbtaay
roster choices gompare to_the performance of othexrs' rostexr choices,

2. Based on the findings in subdivision one of this section, the
legislature declares that interaative fantasy gports de not conttibube
gambling in New York state as defined in article two hundrad twenty— five
of the penal law,

3. The legislature fFfurther findy that as the inkternset has bacome an
inteqral part of society, aad interactive fantssy sports a major form of
entertainment for many consumers, any  inkerasckive fantagy sports
enforoement and regulatery structure must begin from bhe bedrock premise
that participatisn in a lawful and licensed interactive fantasy sports
industry is a privilege and nobt a right, and that requlatory  ovaraight
is _intended to safiagusrd the integrity of the games and participants and
to enaure agoountability and the public trust.

§ 1401, Definitions, As used in this article, the following terms
shall have the following meanings:

1, "Apthericed plaver® shall mean an individual located in Rew York
state, who is not a prohibited player, that participates in an 1ntarac—
tive fantasy sports contest offered by a registrant.

2. "Colleginte sport or athlebtls event” shall mean = sport or athlektiag
event offered or sponsored by or slaved in connection with a  publia  or
private dinstitution that offers education serviges bavond the secsondary
level.

3. MCommdsuion” shall mesn the Maw York state gamlng commisaion,

4. "Bntry fea! ghall mean cash or cash aguivalent that is paid by an
authorized player to an operater oz registrant to participate in an
interactive fankasy sports acopteat offered hy such operator ox  ragis-
trant,

5, "High sobool sport or athletic event! shall mean a sport or athlet-
it event offersd ox spongored by or plaved in genneckion with & poblic
or private instituiion that offers edtigation services at the segondary
lavel,

§. "Highly experienced player” shall meann an authorised plaver who
haa;

(3} entered mere than one thousand contesta offered by a single cpera-
for or registrankt; ox

(b} won more than three priges valued st one khousand dollars each or
more from 3 single operabor or reglstrant,

7. "Horse racing event! shall mean any sport or athletia avent
conductad in New York state subject to bhe provigions of actiales Lwo,
three, four, five, eix, nine, ten and eleven of this chapter, or any
asport or athletic event conducted outside of New York state, which if
conducted in New York state would ba subject to the provisions of thid
chapter,

B, "Interagtive fantasy sports gontest! or Yoontest" shall mean z game
of gkill wheredn one ox mexe contestants oompebe mgaingh sach other by
using thailr knowledge and understanding of athletia evenks and athletes
to select and manage roatens of smimulaked players whose performanca
directly corresponds with the aectusl performancxe of human competitors on
sports teamy and in spaorts ovents,

3. "“Interactive fantasy sports gross revenua” shall mean the amount
aqual to the total of all entry faes not atbributable tc New York stata
prohibited eports events that a registrant coliects from all players,
lass the total of all swmeg not attributable to New York statse prohibited
sporte events paid cut ag winnings to ail players, mulbipiied by tha
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1 gesidant percentage for New York state; provided, howevar, that tha
2 ketal of all sums pald out as winnings to plavers shall not inolude  the
3 oash_ aquivalent value of any merchandise or thing of valua awarded as g
4 prize. j
5 18. "Interactive fantady gports operator” or "oparator" shall mean any
6 person or entity that offers any intermobive Fantasy sports aontest to
7 gpy authorized plaver through any interactive fantmey sports platform.
B 1i, "Ipteractive fantasy sports platform" or "platforn” shall wsan fhe
9 gembinatdon of hardware, software, and data networks wused +to manage,
10 adminiater, or conkrol sontests and apy assoclated entry fees,
11 12. "Interactive fantasy sports registrant" or "registrant” shall meen
12 an _operator that is registered by the oommission. A reglstrant may
13 ubilize multiple interaative fantasy sports platforms and offer miitiple
14 gontests, provided that each platform and each vontest has been reviewed
15 and approved by the commission,
16 13, '"Minor" shall mean any person under the age of sighlean veazs,
17 14, "Prohibited plaver'' shall mean:
18 {a) apy member, officer, employee or agent of an operator or regis-
15 trant:
20 (b) any spouse, chjld, brother, sister or parent residing as a member
21 of the sama household in _the pringipal place of abode of any menwber
22 offiocer, amploygs oy agent of an cparator or registrant;
23 (e}  any individual with agoass to acn-public gonfidential information
24 about contests;
25 {d) aoy emateur or professional athlete whose performence may be  used
26 Lo determine the outcoma of a pantest;:
L 27 {2) any sports sgent, team ewployee, veferee, or league official assg-
28 giazted with any spozt or athletic event on which contests are based;
26 {£) any indivadnal located in a state where khe conduot of conteats is
30 expresaly prohibited: ox
31 {g) any minor,
32 15. “Prohibited sports evenkt" shall mean any eéollegiatae sport or
33 athletin avent, any high sohool gport or athletic sevent or any howrss
34 racing event,
35 16, '"Resident percentage” shall mean, for each interactive fantaay
36 sgports oonktest, the pergentage, reundad %o the rnearest tenth of a

37 percgent, of the total entry fees collected from plavers located in New
38 York state, divided by the total entry fams collected from all players
38 in dntewsctive fantasy sporta contests not prohibited in New York state,

40 17. "Sports event" shall mean any amateur ox professional sport or
41  athletio esvent, except a prohiblted sports event,
42 § 1402, Ragistration. 1. (a) No operator shall administer, manage, or

43 otherwise make available mn interactive fantasy sports platform to
14 persons located in New ¥exk state unlass reglslered with the commigsion
45 pursuant to_section fourteen hundred thres of this artiole, h registrant
46 may uge maltiple interactiwve Fantasy sports platforms and offer pultiple
47 types_ of contests, provided that each platform and eagh type of gontest
48 has been reviewad and approved by the commission, This artigle, snd any
4% and a1l zules and ragulations adopted undar the authority of this  axti-
50 gle, #hall apply only to interactive fantasy sports contests for which
51 an avthorized player pays an enkzy foe,

52 (b)_Ahny operator that was effexing contests to persons located in  New
53 York state prior to the tenth of Novowbor, two thousand Fifteen, may
54 ocontinue to offer contests to persons located in New York state until
53 sugh operator's application for registration has bean approved or denied
56 din_ acgowrdancee with section  fourteen hundred three of this article,
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provided that such cpevator recaives a temporary permit puxsusnt  to
subdiviasion two of this sestion and £iles an application for ragistra-
tion with the commission within nimety days of the promilgation of wegu-
lations to effectuate this article.

2. The gompission shall provide a temporary permit to eanh aperator
that was offering gonbests pursuant to pavagzaph {b) of subdivision one
of this seotion fo_ allow such operator +o dontinue to offer such
contests; on a provisional basis, untill such operator's applioation for
regigtration has heen approved or denied in acgordanoe whth seation
fourtean hundred three of this artiele, provided +that such operatoz
meets all the reguirements Ain sedbion Fourteen hundred four of this
artioclae.

3. Registrations isgued by the commission shall remain in effect Ffor
three years, The commission shall esatablish a process for renewal.,

4. Interactive fantasy sports oontests offered by a ragistrant in
gogordanoe with the previsions of +this  article shall not constitute
gambling as defined in artigle two hundred twenty-five of Lhe penal law.

5. The comsission shall publish a list of all operators registered in
Hew York stabte pursuant to this gegtion on the commission's website For
public uase,

6. The commission shall promulgate regulationg to dmplemont the
provisions of this articlae, inocluding the develcpment of the dinitiadl
form of +the application for registraticn, Such regulations shall
provide for the pegistration and operation of aontests in New York state
and shall include, but not be limited to, responzible protactions with
ragard to compulaive play and safequards for fair play,

5§ 1403, 8cope of registration review, 1, The commission shall
prasoribe the initial form of the application for registration which
shall xequira, but pot be limited to:

(a) the full name and principal addyvess of the opsrateor;

(b} if a corporation, the name of the state in which ingorporated and
the full names and addresses of any pavtner, offiocer, director, shaze-
holder holding tan percent or more equity, and ultimate aquitable
owners ;

{0} if m business entity other than a corperation, the full names and
addressas of the principals, parthers, sharsholdars holding five percent
or more equity, and ultimate egquitable ownera;

{d) whether such corpeoration or entity files information and reports
#zbh bhe Undited States Securities and Ruchange Commission as rvegquired by
sgotion thirteen of the Sacurities Hwchange Aot of 1634, 15 U,8.C. &8
78a-78kk) or whether tha securities of the corporation or sutity are
ragularly traded on an__established sacuvities wmerkek aipn  the United
tatas;

(e} the type and estimated number of conteste to be sonducted anmual-
s

(£) a statement of the assets and liahilities of the operator,

2, The commission iay require the full names and  addreases of  the
effigers and directors of any areditor of the operator, and of those
stookheldezs who hold more than ten percant of the stock of +the aredi-
tor, .

3. Upon receipt of an applicution for registration for esuh individual
listed on snch applicabion as an officar ox dirgaetor, the commisaion
ghall submit to the division of ariminal justice spervices a set of fing-
erprinte, and the division of criminal justice sarvices processing fee
imposgd pursuant to subdivision eight-a of section eight hundred thiz-
ty—seven of the exacutive law end any fes imposed by the federal bureau
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1 of invastigation. Upon redeipt of the fingerprints, the diwvision of ‘
% criminal justioce gervices shall prompily forward & set of the individ- |
3 ual's TFingerprints to the federal bureau  of dnvestigation for the |
4 purpose of a wvationwide oriminal history record gheck Lo determins |
5 whethar guch individusl has bean conviched of B oriminal cffense in any |
§ pstate other than New York or in = fedezal juxiadiotion, The divigion OF |
7 ariminal justice servioces shall promptly provide the requested oriminal
8 history information to the comwiggion, For the punposas of this sestion, |
3 tha berm T"oriminal history information" shall mwoan s record of all
10 gonvigtions of ornimes and any pending oriminal chargas mailntained on _ an
11 individual by the division of criminal justice Services and tha federal
12 burasw of invesbigatdon., All such criminal higtory infermation sent to
13 the oommission purswant to this subdivision shall he aowfldantial and
14 shall not be published gr ih any way disciosed to pereons other than the
15 gommiseion, unless otherwise suthorized by law,
is6 4. Upoun regeipt of eriminal history information pursuant to subdiyi-
17 slon three of this seotion, bhe commission ohall make a determination to
18 approve or deny &n application for ragistzation; provided, however, that
18 bafors making a determination on such applisatich, the comeission anall
20 provide the subjeat of the resewd with a copy of stich  arimlpal hi.gtory
21 dinferxmation end 8 oopy of article twenty-three-a of the correation law
22 and inform such Prospoctive applicant seeking to be oredentialed of his
23 oqr her right to seek correotion of any incorrect information contained
24  in suoh criminal history information pursuant to the regulations  and
25 procedures established by the division of oriminal Justios sexviges.
26 fThe commimsion shall deny any applicaticn fox zegletration, or suspend,
27 refuse to renew, or ravoke amy existing registration issued pursuant o
28 this artinle, upon the finding that the operator or ragistrant, or any
29 partner; officer, director, or sharaholder:
30 fa) has knowingly made a falss stabement of material Ffack or has
31 deliberately failed to discloae any Information reduired by the commis-—
32 pgion;
33 {b) has had a registratlon oxr license to offer or conduot contests
34 denied, suspendad, or ravoked in any other state or qountry for Jdunst
35 gause;
36 {g)_has legally defaulted in the payment of any obligation or debt due
37 to any state or political subdivision; or
38 {d) _hae at any time knowingly failed to comply with any requirement
3% putlined in gechion fourteen hundred four of this article, any other
40 provision of this artiocle, any regulations promulgated by the commission
¢1 or any additional requiramants of the commlasion.
42 5, 311 determinations to approve or deny un spplication purmmant to
43 this artiole ahall be parformad in a mawner consistent with subdivision
44  giwteen of gection two hundred ninety-six of the exeontive Low and asbi-
45 gle twanty-three~h of the corrvection law, Whan the oommission Genies an

16 appligation, the operator shall be afforded notice and the right to  be
47 heard and offer proof in opposition to sbch determination in accerdande
48  with thae ragulations of the gommiasion.

49 8§ 1404, Rerguirad safeguards, minimum standards. L. As & condition of
50 wegistraticon in New York gstate, each operator and regiatrant shall
5] dimplement the following measures:

52 (a) limit each suthorized player to one aetive and ponbinucusly used
53 acoount, and prevent prohibited players frow maintalning aodounbts or
94 partigipating in any gontest offered by such operator or rvegistrant;

bh (h) prohibit minors Erom participating in any contest, which imoludes:
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1 (i) 4f a regisbrant bacomes or is made aware that a minor has partio-
% ipated in one of ita coptests, such registrant shall promptly, wibhin no
3 more than two busipess days, zmefund any deposit received from the mhnon
4 whether oxr not the winer has shgaged in or attempted to engage in &
5 coptest: provided, however, that any refund may bae offeet by any prizes
6 already awardad;

7 (ii} each registrant shall publish and facilitate parental control
8 procedures  to allow parents or guardians to axclode minors from acoess
% to any contest o platform, Such procadurse shall inalude a toll-fraae
10 number toc call for help in establishing gugh parental sentrels; and

11 {iii} eaoh registrant shall talte appropriate skeps to confirm that an
12 individual opening an account is not a minor,

13 {c} when referencing the chances or likelihood of winning in  adven-
14 tigements or wpon coptest enbtry, maka clear and conepicuons shatenents ;
15 that are not inmceurate or misleading congerning the chances of  winnine |
16 and the wunber of winners;

17 (d} enable authoriwed players to sxalude themsalwves from aontesks and
18  take reagonable steps to prevent ekch players from entering a ocontest
19 f£rem which they have exoluded themselves;

20 (@) permit any wmothorized player to permanently closo an sgaount
21  registered to sugh player, on any aond all platforms  supporbed by such
27 pperator or registrant, at any time and for any raason;

23 (f) offer introductowry procedures for authowized playewrs, that shall
24 be prominestly displayed on the main page of such operator or reqgis-

25 krant's platferm, that explaipn gontest play snd how ko ddentify a highly
26 experienced plaver;

27 {g) ddentify all highly experienced players in anv contest by a aymbol
28  abttaghed to such players' usernames, or by other easily wvisible means,
29 pomn all platforms supported by such operator ox registrant;

30 b} disclose the number of entriea a single authomized plaver may
31 subdb to sach contest;

32 (i} discloge the maxinuw numbar of total entries allowed for sach
33 contest;

34 (1) implement measures to protact the privacy and online seourity of
35 guthorized plavers and their aogdunts;

i6 (k) offer all authorised plavers access to his or her account history
37 and ascount details;

38 (1) ensure suthorized players' funds ars protected wpon  deposit  and

39 segregatad £rom the operating funds of such operator or registrant and
40 otherwise protected from oorporate insolvency, financial risk, or crimi-
41 nal or givil agtions againat such opawatsr or registrant;

42 (m} list oh each websita, din & premirent place, information concerning
43 asgistance for compulsive play in Wew York stata, including a  toll-free
44 pumber divecting callers to reputable resources containing further
45  information, whigh shall be free of charge:

46 {n] _ensure the valte of sny prizaes and awards offered bto auvthorizad
47 players shall be established and made known to sueh players in sdvance
1% of the contest, and such value shall nok e detewmined by the number of
49 authorived players ox the amount of any entry fees pald Ly such players;
50 (g} enaure all winning outcomes veflect the relstive knowledge and
51 skill of the authorized players and shall be determined predominantly by
52 sgowmulated statistical resaults of the performance of individualg in
53 sportes events;

54 (p), _enpure no winpdng outoom= shall be based en tha yoore, poink
55 spread, om parformance of s single sports team, or any combination of
56 stch teams;
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1 {g) ensure no winning cutcome shall be based golely on any single
2 performance of an individual sthlate in a single eperk  or athlebic
3 evant; ang
1 =) ensure no game or gontest shall bo bused on a prohibited apoghs
5 event,
] 2. Dach registrant shall restrict the number of entries submitted by a
7 gingle authorized player for any contest to a meximum  of one hundred
8 fifty entriss per player per contest, or a maximum of three percent of
9 the total pumber of entriss by all players for any ocntest, whichevern is
10 less, or as determined by the pommission, Baglistrants shall take reason-
11 able steps to prevent anthorized players from submitting mere than Ehe
12 allowable number of ehtwies per contest, The commission shall promud-
13 gate regulations to fuwebher affectuate this subdivision to  ensure that
14 the number of antries sybmitted by & single subhorized playar for any
15 gontest will lead tc a fair and equitable distribution of number aof
16 entries,
17 3. (a) Operators shall not diractly or indirectly oporate, prompta, on
18  advertise any plabform or oontest te persons Locabed in New Tork state
19 unless registered pursuant ke bhis articla,
20 (b), Unless otherwise approved by ragulation of the commission, opara-
21 tore and regiastrants shall not direckly ox indirectly promote or adver-~
22 tise any online fantasy or simulation sports games or conteste With an
23 antry fee during the conduat of any onlina fantasy or simulation sports
24

games or oontests without an entry fes., This paragraph shall  not apply
28 %o sny operator or registrant that probibits prohibited players from
26 participating in online fantasy or simulation sports gamas  or contasts
27 without an entry fee. .

28 4. Registrants shall not offer any sontast based on any prohibited
29 sports event,

30 5. Registrante shall nop permit any minow or prohibited participant to
31 enter any contest,

32 6. _advertisemsnts for contests and prizes offered by a registrant
33 ghall snot target prchibited participants, mingrs, or self-exciuded
34 persons. Reprasentations or implications about avarage winnings from
35 contests shall not be unfair cor misleading, Such representations shall,
36 inelude, at a miniman:

37 (8} tha madian and wean pet winnings of all authorized players partic-
38 ipating in gonbests offerad by such registrant; and
39 (b} the percentage of winnings awarded by the registrant to highly

40 experiesnced players participating in contests offered by sneh registrant
41 within the preceding calendar year,

42 7, Reglstrante =shall prohibit the use of third-party sgripts or
43 mporipting programs £for any dontest and ensure that measures are in plage
44 Lo deter, deteot and, to the extent reasonably possible, prevent cheat-
45 ing, including eollusion, and tha use of cheating devices, including use
4% of goftware programs that aubmdt entry fees or adjugt the athlaetas
47 selscted by an autherized playar,

48 8. Operators and registrants shall develop and prominently display
13 progedures on the main page of suoh operator's or zegistrant's platform
50 fox the Ffiling of a complaint by the anthorized pliaver sgaiast sudh
51 regigtrant, An initial reeponse shall be given by such registrant to
52 gueh player £iling the complaint within forty-sight hours. A complebe
53 response shall be given by such registrant to such player filing the
54 gomplaint within ten business daya, An authorized player may file a
55 ocomplaint alleging n wviclation of the provisiong of Lhis article WiLH
56 the gomnission,
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A. 10736 &

5, Registranis shall maintain recovds of  all accounts belonging  to
authorizad players and retain sush records For five vears from the date
an nccount was crented.

§ 1405, Powers and duties of the commission. 1, The commission shall
promulgate regulations to implement the provisions of and affactuake the
pelicy and objectives of this artigle aam Lthe commission may deem neces-
sary or advisable, including the development of the initial form of the
application for registration. Such vegulations shall provide for  the
regiatration and operation of oontests in  New York stata and shall
inoludae, without limitation, vesponsible protections with regard to
compilsive play and safequards for faly play. Suoh ragulations may regu-
Ltate the conduct and operation of contests and platforms, protect
contestants and promote the fairness, honesty and integrity of contests,

2, The commission shall have the foliowing powers and duties for
purposes of administering, regulating, and enforoing the provisions of
this articla:

(2)_2all powezs and duties assigoed by this article, ws well as all
powers necessary and proper to fully end effectively execute this arbi-
cle;

(b) to approve and deny applications for registration to aondugk
conteats in WMew York state, and to suspend, rafusa oxr LENeW, oOr revoke
any registwation issued fo a regigtrant undar this artiole;

(o) %o review and spprove mach plabform and each contast offarad by an
oparator o regisbrant;

{d)_ to aguept and investigate complaints of any kind frem  an  auvthor-
ized player and attempt to mediate such complzinis whece sppropriate;

{e) Lo investigate alleged viclations of this article;

{£) to initiate proper enforcement procasdinge whera sugh action is
deemed by the commission tc be negassary or appropriata; and

(q)_all powers and duties assigned by this chaptern,

§ 1406. Annual reporkt. 1. Each registrant shall annually submit a
report to the oommission no later than the thirtieth of June of each
year, whioch shall include the following information ms it shall apply fo
acoountes held by authorimed plavers logated in New York atate;

(2)_the number of acgounits held by authorived players om all platfoerms
affered by the registrant, and the number of accounts held By highly
experienced plavers on all platforms offered by the rogistrant;

{b) the total number of new acaounts established i the precading
year, as well as the total number of accounts permanently olased in  the
preceding vear;

(o) Ehe total amcunt of entry fees recelvad from authorired plavers:

(d} the total amount of prizes awazded to awthorired playens

{e) the total amount of interactive fantasy sports revenue reoaived by
the registrank:

(£) the botsl nuwubar of authorirzed players that reguestsd to excluds
themselves from contests;

40 any additicnal information that the commisslon deems newessary  to
carry out the provisione of thig article .

2. _VUpon the pubmission of sudh anmual ceport, to such extent that the
commigsion daeme it to be in the publis interest, the oommission shall
be  atthoriwed +to condunt a Firvamcial audit of any registrant, at any
tima, te eneure compliangs with this articla,

3. The commisgion shall sanually publish a report based on the aggre-
gate information provided by all reqistrants pursunant to subdivision one
of this section, which shall be published on the commission's wabsite no

Page 8 of 9
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A, 10736 9

later than one hundred eighty days after the deadline for the submission
of individual reports as speoified in subdivigion one of this seation.

§ 1407, 8tate tax, For the privilege of conducting inkeractive fanta-
8y sports gontests in the state, registrants shall pay a tax aguivalent
to fifteen percent of their irteractive fantary sgports grogs revenua
generated within the state; in addition, registrants shall pay a tax
egqpal to one-half of ohm pertant, but not +to exoasd fifbvy  thousand
dollars annually.

§ 1408, Adaitional regulatory costs. The commisgion may assess annual-
ly, dip arrears, on each registrant proportlonal to the intevaobive
fantasy sports gross raverue of such raglstront in  thae prenading vear
gompared to the aggregate intersttive fantasy sporte gross rovenue of
all registrants in the vreveding yesr mabunal coabs pecessary to regulate
in agoordance with the provisigpa of this article, S8uch assessments
shall be made only within amounts appropriated therefor.

§ 1409, Dispogition of taxes. 1. The commission shall pay inbto Che
stake lottery fund all baxes imposed by thia azticlae; any intezest and
penaities imposed by the commdseion relating to those bawes; all penal—
ties levied and colledied by the conmission; and tha appropriata  funds,
cash or prizes Forfeited Ffrom interactive fantusy asportas,

2, The commission shall require at least monthly dapagiks by tha
interactive fantasy sports operator of any payments pursuant to  seotion
fourteen hundred seven of this artiola, at gudh times, under suoh condi-
tlons, and 3in such depositeries as ahail be prescribed by the state
gemptroller. Tha deposits shall be deposited to tha credit of the state
dottery fund, The commission shall require a monthly report and cacon—
piliation statsment ko be filed with it on or before the teoth day of
each wmenth, with respeot to gross revenuss and deposits received and
made, wospectively, during the praceding month,

§ 1410. Determination of tax liability, The commisaion may perform
audite of the books and redords of an inberactive fantasy sperts opera-
Lor with a permit or registrant, at suoh timas and intewyvald ns ib deems
Bppropriate, for the purposa of determining the sufficienoy of tax
payments, If a return raguired with regard to cbligations impossd is not
filed, or if a return when filed or is determined by the gommissicn %o
be incorrect or insufficient with or without an audit, the emcunt of tax
due shall bs determined by the commission, Notice of such determinabion
ghall be given to the interactive fantasy sports operator liable for the
paymant of the tax. Such detexmination shall finally and ivrevogably fix
the tax unlsss the person against whom it is assessed, wikhin thicty
davs after receiving notice of mush determination, shall appl to  the
pommission for & hearing in _ atoordanta  with the regulations of the
commission,

§.141). tlontests authorized, Interackive fantasy gporta  aontests
registarad and conducted puzeuant to the provisiong of this chapter ara
hereby auwthorizad,

§ 1412. Contests prohibited. Tha agondust of dnregistered interactive
fantasy sporks contests is prohibited,

§ 2. Section 104 of the racing, pari-mutuel wagering and breeding law
is amendad by adding a new subdivislon 23 to read ag follows:

23, To register and regulete interactive fantasy sports in MNew York
gtaba,

§ 3. This act shall take effect immediately,

Page 9 0of 9
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EXHIBIT B

DECISION AND ORDER DATED DECEMBER 11, 2015 BY SUPREME COURT,
NEW YORK COUNTY (Mendez, J.)

People v. FanDuel (Index No. 453056/2015).



m-L““aﬂ.lﬂ

* MOTION/CASE IS RESPECTFULLY REFERRED TO JUSTICE

'SUPREME coum OF THE STATE OF NEW vom( — NEW YORK COUNTY
g -,VPRESENT | ij MANUEL J. MENDEZ L PART _ 3 ‘

: ‘The fo?low[ng papars, numbemd 1 tc 14 ware: raad Dn tl‘us motlon tolfor niunctwe :sile

1-7
Answarmg Affidavits -~ l:xhihits L --'gross_n@otiun ‘
_ 'Re_p!yiryg Afﬁdayits '_ L ‘ ' -
::Cross"—MOtio‘ﬁ' Yes X No

. New.York consumers in regards to.any competitich, game or contest run on defendant’'s -

' Attorney General of the State of New York, filed under Index. #453054!201 5, Motion *

FOR THE FOLLOWING REASON(S): -~ . . :

Justme

'THE PEOPLE QF THE STATE OF NEW YDRK BV
ERIC T SCHNEIDERMAN Attorney General crf the .
nstm o‘ﬁaﬂew Ym‘k e
S Platntlﬁ, Lo
haga{nst Bl e

D max;:xﬂ@, "rm¢'53@56114‘5

.. MOTION DATE - 11»25 15°

- MOTION SEQ..NQ. 001 -

N u . - MOTION CAL. NGO, . -

FA D Ef.. fNC . R T R
, ' Defehdant,

- . . ‘ PAPERS NUMBERED
Ncmce of Motion/ Ordar to Show Cause — Affndavits o’ Exhibhs

Upon a readlng of the foregumg mted papars l‘t is Ordered that the mot:on by Erlc
T. Schnmderman in his official capacity as Attorney Ganeral of the State of New York,
for-an Order seeking. m]unct:ve reliaf, enjoining and restralnmg Fanduel, Inc, from doing = ~ - .
business in the State of New Yok, and from accepting, en‘try fees, wagers or bets from - \

'website, Is granted, The iotion by Eric T. Schneiderman, ini his official capacity as

Sequence 001, seeking injunctive relief, enjoining and restraining Draftkmgs Inc fmm R
doing business in the State of New. York, accepting entry fees, wagers or bets-fram New = .

1. York consumers in regards to any competitmn game or contest run on Draftkmgs Inc s. . )

webmte is granted

‘Fanduel lnc § motlcn filed under [ndex # 161691/2015 Motson $equenoe 001 S
seek:ng an Order pursuarit to CPLR 86301 and 6313, grantirig a preliminary mjunctmn AR

I ~and temporary restraining. order against the Attorney General of the State of New York.
Tand the State of New York, from taking any enforcement action or other action; denved L

from, any allegation that the operation of daily fantasy sports contests are a violation of .
jaw, -against Fanduel, Inc. ... and its eimployees, agents and suppliers of goods and services - O
is deniad. Draftkings Inc.’s motion filed under Index Number 102014/2015, Motion .-+ -

_-_Sequence 001, seeking an Order pursuant to CPLR 3 56301 and 6313 granting a T
- preliminary injunction and temporary restramung order against the Attorney General of the

State of New York and the State 6f New York from takmg any enforcement action or

- other action, against Draftkings, Inc., and its eémployees, agents and supphers of .gaods -

and ser\ncas. and for expedited d:scovery, hearmg and trlal IS demed

_ Fanduel Ing. and Draﬂkings, inc. are onhne Da;!y Fantasy Sports (DFS) compames S
that operate websites, - On October 6, 2015, the Office of the New York Attorney - '
Ganeral (heramafter raferred to as "NYAG } commenced an mvestlgatlon into both




‘..ZFanduel ing, and Draftkmgs lnc . related 1o allegatruns that employees of the compe'ﬂng G
company. websites utilized inside information to imiprove chances of winning competitions ~:
on: the cOmpetmg sites. As a result of the investigation the- NYAG determined that the - -
DFs competitlons on Fanduel, Inc. and Draftkmgs, Inc. websites, are in ac‘tualrty illegal.

CoE are wrnnabie

v .

: f}i‘-‘r;-‘;.'-cernpanles, ﬁdemandmg that they, Mcease.and, deeret from: rllegeuy aeeepatmg wagars*m
© New York State in connection wr-th ’Dally Fanitasy. Sports {DFS)." The. NYAG's'

o customers piaclng bets on svents ’they cannot control or influence, ” ‘on the real-game

o relevait variables such as athletee wages, -and-promote themselves like & Iottery DFs

“'gambling operations, $ubjecting the publ‘c fo the fraudulent perceptaons that the' games'
o On November 10 2015 the NYAG sarved a "cease and des:st" Ietter on both
‘investigation determined. that DFS on Fanduel, Inc. and Draftkings, Inc., results in
o performance of professional athletes” and that in reality the entrance fees are wagers on. . ..
- a “¢ontest of-chance,” with the results depending on numerous slements .of chancetoa

"materral degtee.” The NYAG also de’terrnmed that the websites mvolve the compames B
having full and active control with direct proflt from the wagdering, they set prizes, control

" on-the companiés: websrtes was deemed to create pubhc health and economic¢ concerns = " .
) rncludlng the equwa[ent of gamblmg addiction, with advertisements misleading the pubhc Co
- with the lure of easy money whlle only the top -one parcent typically professional - .. 7. -1
. gamblers profit. The NYAG pursuant to General Busingss Law §8349 and 350, provided - . -
five days. for Fanduel, Inc, and Drafﬁ(mgs inc to show why the NYAG should not |n;t|ate_ o
»any proceedmgs s S BN . e R

' On November 13, 2015, Fandue] Inc. commenced an actron agarnst El‘lc T
- Schneiderman, in his official capacity as, NYAG and the State of New York, under Index

L #161691/207 5, The coinplaint asserts two causes of dction seeking: -declaratory and

injunctive relief and alleges that Fanduel Inc. operatés in compliance with-New. York Law L
-and functions as a game of skill, Fanduel, Inc., under Index #161691/2015, broughtan .- ..’

" Order 10 Show Cause seeking a preliminary. injunctmn and temporary rastrammg oider .1 0

~ . violation of the New York State Constitution, the U.S. Const:tutlon and 42 U.5.C.

pursiant to CPLR 86301 and 86313, enjoining. Eric T. Schheiderman, in his capacity.as
NYAG, and the. State of Naw York,. from taking any enforcement action. or ather action
“derived from any ailegatrcrn that the operation of DFS contests are a violation of the law
_.as. agamst Fanduel, Inc., and its employees, agents and. suppliers of goods and services,
On November 16, 2015, this Court denied Fandus) In¢.’s application for a temporary o
: restralnmg order and reserved its decision on the injunctive relief. This Decisionand -~~~

Order also addresses the defendant 5 metlon fried under Index #1 B’i 691 1201 5 Motron
Sequence 001

: On Noverber 13, 2015, Draftkmgs, Enc eommenced an. Artrcie 78 pmceadmg S
under index #102014/2015, against the NYAG and the State of New York. The verified -~
petition alleges that the actions of the NYAG are arbitrary and capricious, in excess of -

" hig jurisdiction, and seeks declaratory and mjunctwe relief. The pétition asserts claims of
" violation of the due process and separation of powers provisions in the New York’ State
~ Constitution and violation of equal protection provision and uncompensated takings in -

§1983. Draftkings, Inc. also asserted’ claiims -of tortlous interference with a contract and

- jtort:ous interference with prospective business rela’tlons Draftkmgs Inc. brought an

- .Order to- Show Cause ‘seeking injurictive relief and a. temporary restraining order, enjoining

 the NYAG and the State of New York, from taking any enforcement action or other

-action derived from any -allegation: that the operation of daily sports contests are a- L
: Violation of tha law, together with seekmg expedlted chscovery, heanng and trrai On el




, Novembar 16 2015 this Gourt denied Draftkmgs lnc 8 applicatlon fora temporary
- réstraining; order and reserved its decision on the injunctive relief. This Decision and S
- Order also addresses Braﬁklngs tnc ‘s’ motmn flled under 1ndex #1 0201 4/2(:}‘15 Mohon N
Saquence 001 e o e P ‘ - e T

. The NYAG commenced an actmn agams’t Fanduel lnc under mdex - : o
#453056/2015 on.Noverriber 17, 2015. The complaint asserts’ nine causes of acuon
“angd alleges that plaintiff under the authority of Executive. Law 563121, is entitied to

e :@nmmjthe defendants-from illegal and-fravdsdent.conductend-seeks: »m;unsnwreimfmm e
pursuant to Business Corparation Law (BEL) §1303 General Business Law. (GBL) §§ 349] :
© and 350. The NYAG's miotion filed under index # 453056/2015, Motion Sequerice 001,
~ seeks an Order pursuant to Executive Law §63[12] BCL§1303, GBL §5349 and 350, - . -
and CPLR §§6301 and 6313 enjoining and restraining Fanduel, Ine., from doing business -
in-the State of New York as a result of its fraudulent-and illegal practices. The NYAG = . .
also seeks to enjom the defendant from. aceeptmg entry fees, wagers or bets from New . ' -/
Yerk consumers in regards to any compatltion, game or contest run an s‘ts websxte

. The NYAG commencﬂd a separate action agamst Draftkmgs, Inc under mdex
. #453054/2015, ob November 17, 2015 asserting nine-causes of action rmaking thé Lo
" same allegations. as were asserted against Fanduel, Inc, The. NYAG’s motior filed. under e
- index #453054/2015, Motion Sequence 001, seeks an Order granting the same R T
- injunctwe rehef against Draftkmgs, !nc iy as is. sought agamst Fanduel !nc e

- The NYAG on rts maotions filed under index #453054!2015 and 453056!201 5
.argues that pursuant to Executive Law 863(12], the Attorney General has authority to
- seek injunctive relief because of Fanduel, Inc. and Draftkings, Inc:'s repeated, ongoing,
"ilegal and fraudulent. activities, The NYAG also seeks injunctive relief under the- consumer
protection provisions of GBL §§ 349 and 350. Pursuant to BCL §1303, the NYAG
claims empowerment to sue to enjoln and restrain Fanduel, Inc. and Draftklngs, Inc. as.
foreign corpora’nons regastered in Delaware, and doing business in New York fmm domg
' bUSlness in Naw York as a rasult of the fraudulent and IIIega! acts or practlces

' Executive Law §63] 12}, permrts the NYAG to brmg an action- for !nlunctwe rellef orf
. damages to remedy repeated fraud or. ;llegahty {State of New: Ycark v. Princess Prestlge s
Co., 42 N.Y. 2d 104, 366 N.E. 2d 61, 397 N.Y.S, 2d 360 [1877]), The NYAG s IR
entitled to injunctive relief pursuant.to. Executive Law- § 63 [12], upon a showing that - =~
there was a repeated statutory violation {Schneiderman v. One Sourcé Networking, Inc., - -
125 A,D. 3d 1345, 3 N:Y.S, 3d 505 14" Dept., 2015}). A prima facie claim of fraud o
‘pursuant to Executive Law & 63 (12), is estabi;shed by showing that, ”...the act
complained of has the capacity or tendency to deceive, or creates an atmosphere =
conducive to fraud” {People ex rel. Spitzer v, Apphed Card Sys., Inc.,.27 A.D. 3d 104,
805 N.Y.S, 2d 175 [1% Dept., 2005} and People ex rel. Spitzer v. Genaral Electric -
-,Company, Ing., 302 AD, 314 756 N Y.S. 2d 520 {1”‘ Bept 2003]} T

Pursuam to GBL §349 a pnma facie- case Is estabiished by a- showmg of injury E
_resuiting from “consumer-oriented conduct,” .and that the- defendant is engaging in an act. .~
or practlce that is matenaﬂv misleading. or deceptive, likely to, “,..mislead a reasonable . .

. consurner acting reasonably under the circumstances”. {Oswego Laborers’ Lacal 214 R
" Pension Fund v. Marine Midland Bank, 85 N.Y. 2d 20, 647 N.E. 2d 741, 623 N.Y, S.2d .
529 [1995]). Pursuant to GBL §349, an omission is deceptlve, if a busmess possesses
“material or information relevant to-the consumer and fails to prowde it to the consumer
- ‘(Oswego ‘Laborers” Local 214 Pensmn Fund V. Marma Mndland Bank 85 N. Y 2d 20




e ._‘supra} GBL §350 spemﬂcal}y apphes ‘to fatse advertlsmg, otherwme the standard to ‘:.

© " -pstablish a prima facie case is the same as that for a claim, pursuant to.GBL 5349 :
. {Goshen v. Nutual Life Ins. Company of New York, 98 N.Y. 2d 314, 774 N.E. 2d 1190 ’
- 746 N.Y.S. 2d 858 [2002]). ‘GBL §350;.also requires an allegation of reliance on, ¢
T Knowledge oF the defendant’s advertisement (Non-Linsar Trading Co. v. Bradd:s )
Assomates inc 243 A D 2d 10? 675 N Y S 2d 5 {‘I“" Dapt 1998])

T e BCL 51303, perm;ts the NYAG to, : brmg an actlon to enjoln or annul the
e nm«u-ewauﬂmnﬁr of-adoreign corporatiosc whm!a-@mretes Awithiri this-state egntiry=io Jaiery ~has r
S ;done or omltted any act whmh lf done by A domesttc cmpurahon WGuId be a cause. for its
L '-(McKmney s Con LaWS Ann&tated Busmess Corporatlon Law §1303) BCL 81 303 has.
- been appifed to enjoin a foreign corporation from’ doing businiess in a fraudulent or’ 1I!egal .
L manner and the court can grant a decree of forfeiture and annulment of the right to.do ™
.. business in the state:of New' York (Pecpie v Amerlcan ice Co., 135 A D.180, 120 -
A ‘.NYS 41 [1St Dept 19091) R T

The NYAG argues that the DFS games piaved on the Fanduel lnc. and Draftklngs,,.._. o

Ingc. websites constitutes |Hegal sports gambling as defined i in the New York State

‘Constitution Afticle |, & 9[1] and under Penal Law §225.00-225.40, specifically. Pena} S

Law §225.05,'§225.10, §225.15 and §225.20 which are alléged 1o have been vsolatad o

It is ‘the NYAG's contention that Penal Law sections §§225 00-225 .40, apply to the DFS e

~ games played on Fanduel, Inc. and Draftkings, Inc.’s websites, which is “gambling” as =~

* .défined in Penal Law §225.00 [2], with each player partlcjpating in a “contest of chance S
as deflned n Penal Law §225 00 ['i] not a game of skﬂl R ‘ . PEREARE

New York State Consﬂtutlon Artlcle i §9[1} states m relevant part

M no Iotterv or the sale of lottery t;ckets poul—ﬁellmqt book makmq or any -
.- .other kind of gambimg. except’ lotteries Qperated by the state and the sale -
~ of lottery tickets in connection therewith as may be authotized and prascribed

: by the leglslature, the-net proceeds. of which shall be appiled exciuswelv o
" orin aid or support of education in this state as the legislature may prescr;be, R
" except pari-mutual betting on horgé races as may be prescribed by the
fegislature and from which the state shall derive a reasonable revenue fc:r‘ the
support 6f government, and except casino gamblmg at no more than '
- ‘'seven: facilities as authorized and prescribed by the ieglslature shall hereafter
 be authunzed or a!lowed wnthm this state: and the legislature shall pass
‘appropriate laws to prevent offenses against any of the provisions of this A
. section.” {Emphasus added) (McKinney s Con Laws Annotated Const Art }, e
'§9[1]) ' S e ‘ R P

. The prOVISIOHS of New York State Constltutmn Amcla (1 §9[1j reflects the pubhc
- ,;pohcy of the State of New. York-against commercialized gambling. The New York State = .
' Constitution Article-1, §911) permits the legislature through the telévant sections of the *
- Penal Law to regulate gamblmg, the statutory provisions are subject to strict construction
" and prohibit uniautharized: -activity. Laws. authorizing gambling should not be extended by -7
: }mplicatmn bayond what is specified by. the: Legislature {New Ycrrk Racing Ass n, §nc vf
- Hoblock 270 A D 2d 31 794 N Y. S 2d 52 [1“‘ Dapt i 2000]} o R '

" The deﬂmtion of ”gamblmg is found in the: Penal Law §225 00 [2], -Whlch defmes . |
ambllng as when a person, stakgs_ or, ;_ls._'l;s‘somethmg:nf value upon the _op_tc:ome of ¥

e o
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R an agreement or understanding that he will receive. 'something of value in the event of a_

. ‘Law 8225.00 [6] defines "somethzng of value” as, "...any form of money or property...
T ¥ credif. r,;nVcﬁvmg...a privilege of playing" ara game or schieve Without charge “ the
award of a free game has been held a violation of the Penal Law. The term somethmg of‘: ‘
‘value,” is established by the payment of cash to play, and ‘the receipt of a cash award,

' resdh‘.s in ‘customers placing bets. labeled “gritrance fees” on events they cannaot control
. or influence, relymg on the real-game performance of. professmnal athletes, to wina -
_prize, which amounts to gambhng as defined in Perial Law §225.00[2]. The NYAG .

‘ .'wager” the ”entrance fee“ is suffaclent to establxsh gamb!ang

" the manner in which a potentlal DFS player may: sign-up for each of the websites. The -

- ‘published rules or terms of use for sach website include statements of legality and the ‘

" finality of the roster, Terms of use and rufes for edch website establish that a player &
- selects a set number of. professional athletes for their DES team and once the DFS team
s selected the players are “locked in.” and the selections may no longer be changed

. by the player as part of the DFS team, The. final tally of a dally or weeklv DFS-
- g competitlon ocours when the final box scores of the sportmg events O’f the resp
© - DFS teain players have conc[uded R Sl

. player bettlng that the. Ime»up they choose will perform better than those picked by
_another DFS player; and “Guaranteed Prize’ Pools” involving a pool with up to hundreds

‘played are more like “patlay” bets contmgent on combmatlons of games and “prop” bets.
. .relying oi statistics, than “contests of -skill. “ The NYAG ‘submits advertisements. for
' Fanduel, Ing.-and Draftkings, Inc. as proof that they advertise themselves as legal,

a contest of chance or a future contmgent event not under hls nontrol or mfluence. upon

certain outcome.” (McKinney's Con. Laws Annatated Penal Law. §225. 00{2}} Penal .

{Plato’s Cave Corp. v. State quuor Authurity,GB NY 2d 791 498 N.E. 2d 420 506

Iis. the NYAG § contentlon that DFS piayed or\ Fanduel lnc and Draftksngs Inc

claims ‘that the “entrance fee” is not returned in ihe event of & loss dnd beaause the .
statute <:n'|l§,«r requires. somethmg of value,” not requmng that it be. classnﬁed as a “bet or

in suppart of the NYAG 8 contentmn, mtemet screen shots are submltted showmg

Scoring for the DFS team'is tallied by | Fanduel; Inc. and Draftkings, Inc.;. who rely on A
individual real game- performances of the athletes selected for the DFS team by the online .~ =

player. The NYAG provrded a copy of the DFS scoring ‘system for professionat football

but the scoring system varies with different types of ¢ports. The terms of use and rules

- for each website staté that pmnts aflotted to the DFS team are affected if there is a rain S

out, postponemment, suspension, or shortenad game for any of the DFS athletes selected

The NYAG clalms the entrance fees a DFS player can pay ranges from'$a25 to : S

o §10, 600 00 on Draftkings,. Inc."s website and from $1.00 to $10,600.00 on Fanduel, .
‘Inc.’s wehsite. . The amounts of the entrance. foe is calculated in part on salary capped at .

up to $50,000,00 and on the-athletes perceived walue: There are multiple types of .
contests a DFS player may-enter including, “head to head” match-ups involving a DFS _

of thousand other players. Itis also the NYAG's contention’ that the. types of. games’

operate in a maringr gimjlar to that of a lottery; and that they claim compemlons are

"wmnab#e" regard!ess of the Ievel of sk:ll wrth mstant gratlficatmn to DFS players. L L

Ttis. the NYAG 5 contentmn that both Fanduel Inc, and Draftklngs hw take

- ‘between 6% and more.than 14% of the “éritryfee” as commnssnon on every :
‘competition, and equates this to the ‘aquivalent of a “rake” or “vig” charge taken on IR
“wagers by a spor’ts bookie. Theur terms of use on entrv fees are exactty alike there is no o ]';:'1




SpeCifIC set fed or parcentage paid as an- entry fee, DFS players partmlpate in a contest
.- with the amount debited from:their account detérmined hy Fanduel, Inc, and Draﬁkmgs
. Ifsc.. There is no breakdown of fees per type of game, which across: differen’t sports can

potentlally result in muitlple entry feas paid daily by the same DFS'player, ailowmg

Fanduel Inc, and" Draftkmgs lnc_ ‘to" profit from every entry fae bemg paid

. Penal Law §225 OO 113 deﬁn&s "’Contest of Chance 1o mean, ven any contest
o game ‘gaming scheme, or gaming. device in which the olutcome depends ina mateﬂal o
et rlegree-Lupon: anaekemenx‘mﬁ!a,ance notw:thsﬁndl@ﬁfgthahskdll of-the. &nnt.mmmﬁ_wmﬁwalﬁm v;m::wm
- be a factor therein” (emphasns added} (Mcl(mney s Con ,Laws Annotated Pena! Law 5

: §225 00[1]} Lo . . : R e

o The NYAG contends that DFS played on the webs:tes are “gontests of chance l
' because although the skill .of the contestants is a factor, the eutcome depends
substanﬂally on chance and factors not within- ‘tha DFS player's control, mcludmg -
-whiether the athletes chosen are Injured; or the game is “rairned out.” Furthermore once a
team is chcsen for a contest there I8 no. means of physmaily altermg the outcame :

Fanduel Inc and Draftkings Inc do not refute the ev:dence prowded by theA
" NYAG, instead éach seeks a prehmma:y injunction pursuant to CPLR.§ 6301 and a
' temporary réstiaining. order pursuant to CPLR & 6313...They argue that DFS games as i
.played on their websites are not iltegal gambhng They claim that DFS is a “game of skill” -
“andnot a “contest of chance, with DFS players acting fike general managers and relying .
‘on ateam that does not exist in reality. They refer to- Humiphrey v, Viacom, Inc., 2007 .
~ WL1797648, and the Federal Uniawfui Interret Gambimg Enforcement Act of 2006
(UIGEA) 31U.8.C, §§5362 5363, as support for their contention that they have the
likelihood of success because, they argue, DFS |s not Eilegal gambling as defmed in the

© O New York Penal Law §225 00 : R RESEURTH

CPLR § 6301 grants ﬂ’lis court the power to issue an order directmg fhat a party
be emomed from performmg an act, or to.refrain from performmg an act which would be
mjur;ous The issuance of a prel:minary injunction is withif the discretion of the trial

 court, .A-movarit seeking a stay or injunction, is. requn‘ed to show, “{1). the likelihood of
~ iltimate success ob the: metits; {2) irreparable injury to-him absent granting of the
preliminary mjunctmn, and {3) that a balancing of the equmes favors his posttlon" {Doe -
-v.Axelrod, 73 N.Y. 2d 748, 532 N.E. 2d 1272, 536 N.Y'S. 2d 44 [1998] and Nobu.

. Next Door, LLC v, Fine: Arts Housmg Ine 4 N Y. 3d 839 833 N. E Zd 191 800 N Y S
2d 48 [2005]) L : ‘ o .

A prellmlnary mjunctlon should not ‘be granted unless its necessmr and jus’uflcatson

is clear based on undisputed facts {Residential Board of Managers. of the Columbia

.. Condominium v. Alden, 178 A. D, 2d 121, 576 N.Y.S, 2d 859 [1* Dept.. 1991]). The
likelihood .of ultimate success on the merits requires .a prima facie showing: of the right to *
relief-{DiMartini v. Chatham Green, Inc., 169°A.D. 2d 689, 575 N.YV.S. 2d 712 [1* Dept
19911).. !rreparahle injury requires a shong that there is no other remedy atlaw, =
mcludmg ‘monetary damages, that could adequately compensate the party’ seeking relief
{Zadkewtch v. Feibush, 49 A.D, 3d 424, 854 N.Y.5.2d-373 [1*" Dept., ,,2008]) The
balancing -of the’ eqmt:es requires the Couit to determine the relative prejudice to each -
party accruing. from a grant or denial of the. requested felief (Ma v, Lien, 198 A.D; 2d
186, 604 N.Y.S. 2d 84 [1* Dept., 1993]}. CPLR §6313 permits the imposition ofa
temporary Restralmng Order pendmg the determmatson of a motmn for prehmmary S




B lnjunctlon (Peeple Vi Asmtlc Petroleum C:orp 45 A D 2d 835 357 N Y S. Zd 542 ['I*‘1
L Dept,, 3974]) I T .

. Fanduel, lnc: and Draftkmgs Inc., each refer to Humﬂhrey v. Viacom, Inc-.,
e \Y-1797648 [D.CIND,, 120071, an umeported decision from the:New Jersey U.§.

District Court addressmg the New Jersey Qui Tam statute (N.J.5.A. 2A:40-1) permuttmg
' illegaF gambling losers to recover losses.  This case has.no appilca’tmn in this. ;urlsdlctmn
" and is- distinguishable; - ‘The Court in Humphrey v. Viacom, Inc., granted a motionta -
T wdtsﬁmgzthalmpiamt, and detemnmdc%hamha paymait-ofan entiyfeedmatdarto. =~
. participate in seasonal ‘fantasy sports is not.an‘illegal “wager” or "bet" purstant to the .
- New Jersey Qui Tam statue." The Court in. ‘Humphrey v, Viacom, Inc.; stated that,- “entry
fees do not constitute bets or wagers whare they are pald uncond:’aonally for the . =
rprwuiege of partucnpatmg in & contest, arid the prizé is for ar amount certain that i is "
- guaraiiteed to be won by one of the contestants [but not the entity offermg the prize).”
- Humphrey v. Vlacom Inc., involved seasonal’ fantasy sports in which the players paid- -a
- nonrefundable one time entry fee.- Contrarv to: Humphrey v. Viagom, Inc., the facts in
. this-action inveolve. DFS the participants pay. a foe every time they play, potentaal[v B
mu[tlple times’ daily instead of one seasonal entry. fee, with a percentage of every entry
-fee being paid to Fanduel Enc ‘and Draftkmgs, Ine., Furtherrnore the New York State _
Penal Law does not- refer to- “wagering” or “bettmg,. rather it states that @ person, “risks -
something of value.” The payment of an “entry fee” as high as $10,600.00 on one or o ¢
mote contests daily could certainly be deemed rlskmg “somegthing of value.”. The . -
o -ianguage of Penal Law- §225.00 is broadly worded and as currentiv written sufﬂclent for

; findlng that DFS involves li!egal gambimg ’ L - e

32907

, Fanduel Inc. and Draftkmgs, Ine. refer to the Federal Uniawful !nternet Gamblmg ,‘
Enforcement Act of 2006 [UIGEA} 31U.8.C. §§5362 5363 arguing it carves outan . :
-exception for Fantasy Sports. UIGEA [1][e} [ix], permits pal"tlclpatmn in, “any fantasy or B
simulation sports game or eddcational game or contest in which...no fantasy or’ LT
simulation sports team is based on the current membersh:p of an actuai team that isa

;,member -of an amateur or- professionai sports organization., J31U.5.C. 55362 [11[e][|x})
‘The UIGEA. language exempting fantasy. sports has no correspondmg authority'under . 17
" New York State law as currently written. UIGEA creates an exception for state statutes,_ R
- specifically stating, “The. term unlnwfui !nternet gamblmg means to place, receive, or’ .
: otherWtse knowmgly transmlt a bet or wager by means whlch mvoives the use at Ieast
or Stats Law ifi tha Srate or Tnbal lands in which the bet or wager is initiated, received -
‘or-otheérwise made (emphasis added) {(31U.5.C. §56362 [21,[101IA]}. The exception found e
in' UIGEA does not apply under the current New York State statutory language, UIGEA - -
by its own Janguage does’ not apply to “. placmg, receiving, or otherwsse transmitting a )
bet or wager wheve..(i) the bet or wager is-initiated and recewed or otharw&sa made L
. - exclusively within a single State;...”(31U.S.C. §5362 {21 [101BI0L, i), UIGEA is nota
.. basis to find the NYAG: axceeded its author:ty or ta grant Fanduel [nc and Draftkmgs, SRR
o lnc.. the injunctwe rellef sought o - e . e

Fanduiel, Inc. and Draﬂking, lnc s clalms of Iaches or estoppei cannot be mvoked -
agamst a government agency to prevent the discharge of sta’tutory duties where the acts' .
~the agency seeks fo prevent coidd easily result in exténsive publi¢ fraud (Parkview :
Associates v. Clty of New York, 71 N.Y, 2d 274 77, 519 N: E. 2d 1372, 5256 N.Y.§. 2d .
-~ 176 [1988] and New York State Medical Transporters Ass’n, Inc. v. Perales, N.Y. 2d ‘. o
- 128, 566 N.E. 2d 134, 564 N.Y.S. 2d 1007 [1990]). The possibility of estoppel against ' -
a governmentai agency is 1o be demed in all but the, "rarest of cases" such as where, S




(1 } there is no awareness of the Iaw sought to be enforced and it cauld not be dlscovered ‘
_ .. by reasonable diligence, {2} there is no potential for public fraud and (3). "manrfest L
a mjustlce will result (New York State Medical Transporters Ass'n; Inc. v. Perales, N. Y. Zd" e
.- 128 supra)s The DFS corporations have not stated a basis to find the “rarest of cases” B
exceptmm appiws 1o the NYAG's clarms -and-the potentlal for pubhc fraud-has not: heen
eliminated. "~ Defendant’s contention that plaintiff failed ta seek restraint as to Seasonai
Fantasy Sports is not relevant to the pendmg met:on because that rehef is not before
_ . this Gourt.. _ ‘ L D el
A B e T € »c' o .wﬂ**‘*: AR T A g | g r**“ mwww;‘ g ‘c:”mrﬂ-'
‘ ' Draftkmgs Inc., has asserted constitutional arguments of violations of due process -
. and equal protection in its Ordar to Show Causa seeking lmunctive relief. Due process .
. reqmres notice and the opportumty 1o be heard (People v. Apple Health &. Sparts Clubs,. -
' 80 N.Y..2d 803, 599 NLE. 2d 279,587 N.Y.S. 2d 279 [1992]). The- NYAG ‘conducted S
- an investigation over the coursé of a month and prowded both notice and an opportunity . .
for Draﬁkmgs Ine. to be heard in the. November 10, 2015, “cease and desist {etter.” - .
Draftkings, Inc. commenced a spemal proceeding and brought an Order to Show Cause NREEIENE
seeking injunctive relief during the period provided by the NYAG. The due process
- argument-fails because Draftkings, Inc. has been pravided wnh the- opportumty to be .
heard by both the NYAG and this Court. The equal protection argument also fals to .,
- avoid injunctive relief. Draftkmgs, Ing. claims that the NYAG is selectively enforcing the. = .~
‘ lliegal gambling. provisions of Penal Law §§225.00-225.40, solely against DFS as. played .
" onthe corporation’s website, Draftk:ngﬁ, Inc. is required to provide evidence that other - ¢
DFS websites or corporations that are “similarly situated” have been exempted by the .
NYAG from its investigation and enforcement to establish a violation of the equal - - .
‘protection provisions of the Constitution {Dezer Entertamment Concepts, Inc. v. City of
New York, 8 A.D. 3d 37, 778 N.Y.S. 2d 18 [1* Dept., 2004]). ‘Draftkings, Inc. failed to
. provide evidence that “similarly situated” DFS websites were exempted irom the L
NYAG s investigation, such tha’e m_zunctwe relief shuuld be dEnied

Draftkmgs, Inc. asserted the constltutional argumenf of’ separatlon of pGWers in
~ jts Order to Show Cause filed underindex # 102014/2015. It fails to establish that the
- injunctive relief sought by the NYAG should be avoided under the ‘separation of powers .
 doctrine.. It is Draftkings, In¢.’s contention that the NYAG by its interpretation of the "
New York State Coristitution,. Artlcle I,.59 and the Penal Law, is-engaging in “Judicial _ -

‘powers "and "Ieg!slaﬁve powers mstead of ‘applying executwe authority. Draftkings, -
Jnc. claims that the NYAG is applymg judlmary power by determining whether a particular -
individual’ or company has violated the law and saekrng to shut'the company down.

_ The Nevember 10, 2015, “cease and desist 1étter,” was not a final determination, and .
the NYAG in providing the opportumty for Draftkings, Inc.. .to be heard did not infringe on.. .
“judicial powers. * The injunctive relief sought by the NYAG is not seekmg to determlne
thé ulﬂmate !ssues ralsad by the parties S : :

Draftkmgs lnc claims that the NYAG is engagmg in poizcy decns:ons that shouid
" be restncted to the legislature.. The separation of powers is implied in each of the thrée | .~
~coordinated branches of government:-executive, Jegislative and judicial. The Legislature’ s_'
_ powers mvolve, ‘making critical policy decisions, while the executive branch’'s - )
" - responsibility is to implement those policies.” Although there is a “functional separation”, -
~ betweeri the legislative and the éxecutive branches they, “...cannot neatly -be divided into "~
isolated pockets” (Bourquin v. Guomao, 85 N, Y. 2d 781, 652 N.E.2d 171, 628 N.Y.S. 2d o
- 618 [18951). ‘The four part test for infringement of legisiative powers involves- :
_ determining if an agency. (1) is not authorized to, “structufe its decision making in a -
: cost benef:i analys:s, (2) create a comprehenswe set af rules without guadance fmm the ,

-8- .
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: enforcement actloﬂ

legxslature, (3) is. acttng ta fﬂl the vacuum" En an area the leglslature had been unable to,
“reach an agreement on the goals and methads that should govern” and (4] the tachnlcal
cmmpetence necessary to provide: details for broadly statéd legislative. policies {Boreali v,
Axelrud 71N.Y.2d T, 517 N.E. 2d 1350 523 N.Y.S, 2d 464 [1987]). The four part”
“test requires pronf that the statufory provisicns, “have numercus exemptions,” there is
repeated attempts at legislative enactments with failure to reach an agreement in. the -
" lagislature after “substantial publlc debate and wgamus labbymg, and.a showing that
- there is no special expertlse o competence of the agency. irivolved (Fésta v. Leshen, 145

. .proof in support: of the contentions that the NYAG has failed to meet-the four part test.
~ The mere. assertions: that the NYAG fails to megt the reqmrements IS nni enough to avold
the m;unctwe rellef sought by ‘ti'te NYAG ‘ DU St :

The NYAG in: opposmon m the separatlon of powers argument argues that the
mjunctwe relief sought by Draftkings; lic. amounts to the extraordinary relief of a writ of
prohibition,. “The extraordinary remedy of a writ of prohibition lies only where - there isa’
- clear legal right’ to such relief; and-only when the body or ‘officer involved acts or -
threatens to act in a manney over ‘which he ar she has no jurlsdsctlon or where he or she
exceeds his or her authorized powers,..” (I(lmyagarova v, Spitzet, 791 N.Y.S. 2d 610 .
[2™ Dept.; 2005])." Draftkings, Inc.’s argument that the NYAG hag exceeded its’ ?-
authorifv and misinterpreted the meaning and apphcatmn of the New York State:
Constitution Article |, §9 and the Pefisl Law, does not requife that this Court utllize the
_extraordinary remedy of restraining the NYAG (Morgenthau v. Erlbaum; 59 N.Y. 2d 143,
451 N.E. 2d.150, 464 N.Y.S. 2d 392 [1983] and Matter of Johnson v, Price, 28 A, D.. L
3d 79, 810 N.Y.S. 2d 133 [1* Dept., 20086]}. Draftkmgs Inc.-has not established a.
“clear legal nght to the mjunctwe rehef sought, prohlbltlng the NYAG from taklng -

- The- NYAG has established the Ilke!uhood Df success warrantmg lnjunctwe rehef ‘
“under. the’ authonty prowded in Execytivé Law563[121, to avoid fraudulent or illegal acts
-and violations 6f GBL §8349-and 350, The NYAG has a greater likeliiood of success on :
" the merits ‘under the New York State Constitition Artlr;’ie 1,89, and the definitions of " .
gamblinig and ’ "contest of chance” as curréntly stated in: Penal Law §225 00 11],12). The f
'NYAG has also established that both Fanduel, inc. and Draftkings, In¢., as out of state
corporatlons, can he en;omed«pursuant to BCL §1303-from theilr actlwtlas in the State of
. New York. The NYAG. is not required to show Erreparab!e ‘harm under Executive Law -~ .~
§63[12],. it is lmphed in'the need to prevent the effects of frauduient and lllegal conduct
oh'the general public {People v. Appie Health & Sports Clubs, 599 N.Y. 2d 803, supra).’
The balangcing. of the. equities are’in favor of the NYAG and the State of New Yotk due to

. their interest in protectmg the public,. partscularly those with gambling addictions..

‘Fanduel, Inc. and Draftkmgs, Ing., are only enjoined and restrained in the State- of New
York, DFS is permitted in other states, and the protectlon ef the genera] public outwmghs E R
any potentlai loss af busmess e : . _ . ; Ll

Fanduel Enc. aﬁd Draftkmgs, lnc have not established Entltlement to a pre!{mmarv o
injunction, however, a-granting or denial of a preliminary jnjunction does. not constitute a -
determiriation. of the ultimate issues {Walker Meniorial Baptist Church v. Saunders, 285 -

N.Y. 462, 35 N.E. 2d 42 [1941] and Jou-Jou Das:gns, Iné. v. Internationa) Ladies
Garment Workers” Unton, Locat 23-25, 94 A.D. 2d 395, 465 N.Y.S. 2d 163 [1* Dept
19831), Fanduel, Inc. and Uraftkmgs, Inc.’s failure to establish entittement to'a -

. préliminary injunction,. is not a final determination of the mesits and rights of the partles
therefore dlscavery is needed after Jonnder nf 135ue The: rehef sought by Draftkmgs lnc




i rts wiotion papers ﬂled under lndex Number 102014/2015 Motmn Sequence 001,
R -seekmg expedited dlscavery, hearing and trial, is. premature smce the NYAG. and.State o
‘. New York have nct had an Gpportumty to answer :

. Accordmgly, tt is ORDERED tha‘t tﬁe motmn by Eric'T. Schnerderman;:ln' his offrclai

R capac;ty as Attomey General of: the State of New York for an Order pursuant to- = -+

. Executive Law 563[12], Busmess Corpnrathn Law §1303, General Business Law§§ 349

. “and: 350, and CPLR 586301 and 6313 seeking injunctive relief and.a temporary
o ';._a‘qummrestrammg ordﬁﬁmtxjommgcaﬂd mstrarnmgﬁndueiwnm Afrarm: doing business 1m¢hm%’eer
7. -of New York in violation of the New York State Constitution Article 1, [9] and New York

- Peiial Law §225.05, '§225.10, §225.15 and §225.20, and from’ accepting entry’ fees,

_ wagers or bets from New York con$umars in regards to-any compet;tlcn, game or

B contest run on defendant 5 web:ﬂte 13 granted and rt rs further,

_ K GRDEREIJ that Fandu«al Inc is temparanly en]omed and restramed from doing ™.
" business in the State of New York, mcludmg accepting entry fees, wagers or beis from

- New York consumers in’ regards to any competition, game or. contest run on.Fanduel,’
inc.'s webs:te pendmg a fmaI detarmlnatuon, and at is. further :

ORDERED that Fandue!, Inc. shaﬁ have thlrty {30) days frorn the serwce of a copv
0 of th{s Order with Notice of Entry to sérve an answer or otherwuse move in the action
L filed under !ndex #453056[2015 and lt s further :

oo ORDERED that the mnﬂon by Erlc T Schnelderman in hls officral capac!ty as
. A’ttnmey Generalof the State of New York, filed under Index #453054/2015, Motion -,
. 'Sequence 001, foran ‘Order pursuant to Executive Law §63[12}; Business Cnrporatron
" Law §1303, General Business Law$$§ 349 and 380, and CPLR §§6301 and 6313,
.- seeking lnjunctwe relief and a temporary restraining order, emommg and restralmng
- _Draftkings; Inc. from doing business in the State of New.York in violation of the New
" York State Constitution Article |, Section$I9] and New York Penal Law §225.08,
§225.10, 8225.15 and §228, 20, and from’ accepting entry fees, wagers or bets from g
" New York consumers in regards to any compeutmn, gama c:r contest Tun on defandant
-.websﬁe is gramtedr and |t is further, , { ., . - - Lo

ORDERED that Draftkings, Inc: S enjomed and restrainad fmm dnmg busmess m
the. State. of New York, including accepting entry fees, wagers, or bets from New York -
State consumers in regards to any competition, game or contest run on Draftkmgsr lnAc_
.wabsrte untii a final- determmatlon, and rt 15 further e co

ORDERED that Draftkmgs, incu shali hava th:rtv {30) days fmm the service of a-
. copy of this Order with Notice of Entry to serve an answer or otherwnse move i the
actmn filed under lndex #453054[2015 and it is ’furtherr. , :

ORDERED that Fanduel Inc. s motlon ﬂled under Index Number 161691/2015,

Motion Sequence 001, seeking.an Order pursuant to CPLR 586301 and 6313, granting a

prelirpinary- injunction and temporary restraining ordér enjoining Eric T, Schnetderman in -

his official capacity as Attorney General of the State of New York, and the State of New

- York, from taking any eniforcement action or other action derived from any allegation that'_;

. the operatron of daily fantasv sports ¢ontests are a violation of taw, against Fanduel, I

ey and:its employees agents and suppl:ers of goods and serwces 15 demed and |t is
"~ further, : L » - T v

L aLOe
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EriC T. SCHNEIDERMAN

State oF NEw York
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY (JENERA,

ATTORNEY (GENERAL INTERNET BUREAU

November 10, 2015

NOTICE TO CEASE AND DESIST AND
NOTICE OF PROPOSED LITIGATION PURSUANT TO
NEW YORK EXECUTIVE LAW § 63(12) AND GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 349

BY CERTIFIED AND EXPRESS MAIL
Mr. Nigel Eccles

Chief Executive Officer

FanDuel Inc.

19 Union Square West, 9™ Floor

New York, NY 10003

Dear Mr. Eccles:

This letter constitutes a demand that FanDuel, Inc. (“FanDuel”) cease and desist from
illegally accepting wagers in New York State in connection with “Daily Fantasy Sports.”

As you know, on October 6, 2015, the Office of the New York State Attorney General
(“NYAG”) commenced an investigation of FanDuel. Although this inquiry initially centered on
allegations of employee misconduct and unfair use of proprietary information, FanDuel’s
operations and business model — known colloquially as Daily Fantasy Sports (“DFS”) —
necessarily came under review,

Our review concludes that FanDuel’s operations constitute illegal gambling under New
York law, according to which, “a person engages in gambling when he stakes or risks something
of value upon the outcome of a contest of chance or a future contingent event not under his
control or influence.” FanDuel’s customers are clearly placing bets on events outside of their
control or influence, specifically on the real-game performance of professional athletes. Further,
each FanDuel wager represents a wager on a “contest of chance” where winning or losing
depends on numerous elements of chance to a “material degree.”

FanDuel DFS contests are neither harmless nor victimless. Daily Fantasy Sports are
creating the same public health and economic concerns as other forms of gambling, including
addiction. Finally, FanDuel’s advertisements seriously mislead New York citizens about their
prospects of winning.
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We believe there is a critical distinction between DFS and traditional fantasy sports,
which, since their rise to popularity in the 1980s, have been enjoyed and legally played by
millions of New York residents. Typically, participants in traditional fantasy sports conduct a
competitive draft, compete over the course of a long season, and repeatedly adjust their teams.
They play for bragging rights or side wagers, and the Internet sites that host traditional fantasy
sports receive most of their revenue from administrative fees and advertising, rather than
profiting principally from gambling. For those reasons among others, the legality of traditional
fantasy sports has never been seriously questioned in New York.,

Unlike traditional fantasy sports, the sites hosting DFS are in active and full control of the
wagering: FanDuel and similar sites set the prizes, control relevant variables (such as athlete
“salaries™), and profit directly from the wagering. FanDuel has clear knowledge and ongoing
active supervision of the DFS wagering it offers. Moreover, unlike traditional fantasy sports,
DFS is designed for instant gratification, stressing easy game play and no long-term strategy.

For these and other reasons, DFS functions in significantly different ways from sites that host
traditional fantasy sports.

Further, FanDuel has promoted, and continues to promote DFS like a lottery,
representing the game to New Yorkers as a path to easy riches that anyone can win. The
FanDuel ads promise: “anybody can play, anybody can succeed”; “Play for real money with
immediate cash payouts ... the money is real!” and similar enticements. Like most gambling
operations, FanDuel’s own numbers reveal a far different reality. In practice, DFS is far closer
to poker in this respect: a small number of professional gamblers profit at the expense of casual
players. To date, our investigation has shown that the top one percent of FanDuel’s winners
receive the vast majority of the winnings.

Finally, during the course of our investigation, the New York Attorney General has been
deeply concerned to learn from health and gambling experts that DFS appears to be creating the
same public health and economic problems associated with gambling, particularly for
populations prone to gambling addiction and individuals who are unprepared to sustain losses,
lured by the promise of easy money. Certain structural aspects of DFS make it especially
dangerous, including the quick rate of play, the large jackpots, and the false perception that it is
eminently winnable. Ultimately, it is these types of harms that our Constitution and gambling
laws were intended to prevent in New York.

The illegality of DFS is clear from any reasonable interpretation of our laws, beginning
with the New York State Constitution. The Constitution prohibits gambling in all forms not
specifically authorized:

[E]xcept as hereinafter provided, no lottery or the sale of lottery tickets, pool-
selling, book-making, or any other kind of gambling, except lotteries operated
by the state . . ., except pari-mutuel betting on horse races . . ., and except casino
gambling at no more than seven facilities. . . shall hereafter be authorized or
allowed within this state; and the legislature shall pass appropriate laws to
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prevent offenses against any of the provisions of this section.
N.Y. Const. Art. I, § 9 (emphasis added).

To enforce this clause, the Legislature established a series of criminal offenses applying
to businesses that promote gambling. See, generally, N.Y. Penal Law §§ 225.00-225.40. These
provisions all apply the same statutory definition of gambling:

A person engages in gambling when he stakes or risks something of value upon
the outcome of a contest of chance or a future contingent event not under his
control or influence, upon an agreement or understanding that he will receive
something of value in the event of a certain outcome.

N.Y. Penal Law § 225.00(2). The penal law imposes no criminal liability on individual
bettors, focusing instead on bookmakers and other operations that advance or profit from

illegal gambling activity. See, e.g,, N.Y. Penal Law § 225,10 (Promoting Gambling in the
first degree).

FanDuel wagers easily meet the definition of gambling., FanDuel bettors make bets
(styled as “fees”) that necessarily depend on the real-world performance of athletes and on
numerous elements of chance. The winning bettors receive large cash prizes — and the company
takes a “rake” or a cut of from each wager.

Accordingly, we demand that FanDuel cease and desist from illegally accepting
wagers in New York State as part of its DFS contests,

This letter also serves as formal pre-litigation notice pursuant to New York State General
Business Law (“GBL”} §§ 349 and 350 and Executive Law § 63(12). These statutes direct the
State to give notice prior to commencing a summary proceeding to enjoin repeated illegal and
deceptive acts and practices, and to obtain additional injunctive relief, restitution, penalties,
damages, and other relief that a court may deem just and proper.

The unlawful and illegal conduct under consideration by our Office includes, but is not
limited to, the following:

(a) Running a book-making or other kind of gambling business in violation of Article 1,
Section 9 of the New York State Constitution;

(b) Knowingly advancing and profiting from unlawful gambling activity by receiving and
accepting in any one day, more than five bets totaling more than five thousand dollars
in violation of New York Penal Law § 225.10;

(c) Knowingly advancing or profiting from unlawful gambling activity in violation of
New York Penal Law § 225.05;

1 Washington State, which has substantially the same statutory definition of gambling, has reached the same legal
conclusions with respect to DFS,
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(d) With knowledge of the contents thereof, possessing any writing, paper, instrument or
article of a kind commonly used in the operation or promotion of a bookmaking
scheme or enterprise and constituting, reflecting or representing more than five bets
totaling more than five thousand dollars in violation of New York Penal Law
§ 225.20;

(e) With knowledge of the contents thereof, possessing any writing, paper, instrument ot
article of a kind commonly used in the operation or promotion of a bookmaking
scheme or enterprise in violation of New York Penal Law § 225.15;

(fy Misrepresenting that FanDuel complies with applicable laws; misrepresenting the
likelihood that an ordinary player will win a jackpot; misrepresenting the degree of
skill implicated in the games; and misrepresenting that FanDuel’s games are not
considered gambling, in violation of Executive Law § 63(12) and GBL §§ 349 and
350; and

(z) Conducting or transacting its business in a persistently fraudulent and illegal manner
in violation of BCL § 1303.

Pursuant to GBL §§ 349 and 350, FanDuel is afforded the opportunity to show orally or
in writing to this Office, within five business days of receipt of this notice, why the Attorney
General should not initiate any proceedings.

Sincerely,

Kathleen McGee
Chief, Internet Bureau

cc: Mare Zwillinger, Esq.
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State oF NEw Yorx
(OrFicE OF THE ATTORNEY {FENERAL

Eric T. SCHNEIDERMAN Drvision oF EconoMIC JUSTICE
ATTorRNEY GENERAL INTERNET Burgau

November 10, 2015

NOTICE TO CEASE AND DESIST AND
NOTICE OF PROPOSED LITIGATION PURSUANT TO
NEW YORK EXECUTIVE TLAW § 63(12) AND GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 349

BY CERTIFIED AND EXPRESS MAIL
Mr. Jason Robins

Chief Executive Officer

DraftKings, Inc.

376 Boylston Street, Ste 501

Boston, MA 02116-3825

Dear Mr. Robins:

This letter constitutes a demand that DraftKings, Inc. (“DraftKings™) cease and desist
from illegally accepting wagers in New York State in connection with “Daily Fantasy Sports.”

As you know, on October 6, 2015, the Office of the New York State Attorney General
("NYAG") commenced an investigation of DraftKings. Although this inquiry initially centered
on allegations of employee misconduct and unfair use of proprietary information, DraftKings’
operations and business model — known colloquially as Daily Fantasy Sports (“DFS™) —
necessarily came under review.

Our review concludes that DraftKings’ operations constitute illegal gambling under New
York law, according to which, “a person engages in gambling when he stakes or risks something
of value upon the outcome of a contest of chance or a future contingent event not under his
control or influence.” DraftKings’ customers are clearly placing bets on events outside of their
control or influence, specifically on the real-game performance of professional athletes. Further,
each DraftKings wager represents a wager on a “contest of chance” where winning or losing
depends on numerous elements of chance to a “material degree.”

DraftKings DFS contests are neither harmless nor victimless. Daily Fantasy Sports are
creating the same public health and economic concerns as other forms of gambling, including
addiction. Finally, DraftKings’ advertisements seriously mislead New York citizens about their
prospects of winning.
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We believe there is a critical distinction between DFS and traditional fantasy sports,
which, since their rise to popularity in the 1980s, have been enjoyed and legally played by
millions of New York residents. Typically, participants in traditional fantasy sports conduct a
competitive draft, compete over the course of a long season, and repeatedly adjust their teams.
They play for bragging rights or side wagers, and the Internet sites that host traditional fantasy
sports receive most of their revenue from administrative fees and advertising, rather than
profiting principally from gambling. For those reasons among others, the legality of traditional
fantasy sports has never been seriously questioned in New York.

Unlike traditional fantasy sports, the sites hosting DFS are in active and full control of the
wagering: DraftKings and similar sites set the prizes, contro! relevant variables (such as athlete
“salaries™), and profit directly from the wagering. DraftKings has clear knowledge and ongoing
active supervision of the DFS wagering it offers. Moreover, unlike traditional fantasy sports,
DES is designed for instant gratification, stressing easy game play and no long-term strategy.

For these and other reasons, DES functions in significantly different ways from sites that host
traditional fantasy sports.

Further, DraftKings has promoted, and continues to promote DFS like a lottery,
representing the game to New Yorkers as a path to easy riches that anyone can win, The
DraftKings ads promise: “It’s the simplest way of winning life-changing piles of cash™; “The
giant check is no myth. . . BECOME A MILLIONAIRE!” and similar enticements. Like most
gambling operations, DraftKings’ own numbers reveal a far different reality. In practice, DES is
far closer to poker in this respect: a small number of professional gamblers profit at the expense
of casual players. To date, our investigation has shown that the top one percent of DraftKings’
winners receive the vast majority of the winnings.

Finally, during the course of our investigation, the New York Attorney General has been
deeply concerned to learn from health and gambling experts that DFS appears to be creating the
same public health and economic problems associated with gambling, particularly for
populations prone to gambling addiction and individuals who are unprepared to sustain losses,
lured by the promise of easy money. Certain structural aspects of DFS make it especially
dangerous, including the quick rate of play, the large jackpots, and the false perception that it is
eminently winnable. Ultimately, it is these types of harms that our Constitution and gambling
laws were intended to prevent in New York,

The illegality of DFS is clear from any reasonable interpretation of our laws, beginning
with the New York State Constitution. The Constitution prohibits gambling in all forms not
specifically authorized:

[E]xcept as hereinafter provided, no lottery or the sale of lottery tickets, pool-
selling, book-making, or any other kind of gambling, except lotteries operated
by the state . . ., except pari-mutuel betting on horse races .. ., and except casino
gambling at no more than seven facilities. . . shall hereafter be authorized or
allowed within this state; and the legislature shall pass appropriate laws to
prevent offenses against any of the provisions of this section.
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N.Y. Const. Art. I, § 9 (emphasis added).

To enforce this clause, the Legislature established a series of criminal offenses applying
to businesses that promote gambling. See, generally, N.Y. Penal Law §§ 225.00-225.40. These
provisions all apply the same statutory definition of gambling:

A person engages in gambling when he stakes or risks something of value upon
the outcome of a contest of chance or a future contingent event not under his
control or influence, upon an agreement or understanding that he will receive
something of value in the event of a certain outcome.

N.Y. Penal Law § 225.00(2). The penal law imposes no criminal liability on individual
bettors, focusing instead on bookmakers and other operations that advance or profit from

illegal gambling activity. See, e.g., N.Y. Penal Law § 225.10 (Promoting Gambling in the
first degree).

DraftKings wagers easily meet the definition of gambling. DraftKings bettors make bets
(styled as “fees”) that necessarily depend on the real-world performance of athletes and on
numerous elements of chance. The Winnin? bettors receive large cash prizes — and the company
takes a “rake” or a cut of {from each wager.

Accordingly, we demand that DraftKings cease and desist from illegally accepting
wagers in New York State as part of its DFS contests.

This letter also serves as formal pre-litigation notice pursuant to New York State General
Business Law (“GBL”) §§ 349 and 350 and Executive Law § 63(12). These statutes direct the
State to give notice prior to commencing a summary proceeding to enjoin repeated illegal and
deceptive acts and practices, and to obtain additional injunctive relief, restitution, penalties,
damages, and other relief that a court may deem just and proper.

The unlawful and illegal conduct under consideration by our Office includes, but is not
limited to, the following:

(a) Rumning a book-making or other kind of gambling business in violation of Article i
Section 9 of the New York State Constitution;

(b) Knowingly advancing and profiting from unlawful gambling activity by receiving and
accepting in any one day, more than five bets totaling more than five thousand dollars
in violation of New York Penal Law § 225.10;

(c) Knowingly advancing or profiting from unlawful gambling activity in violation of
New York Penal Law § 225.05;

B Washington State, which has substantially the same statutory definition of gambling, has reached the same legal
conclusions with respect to DFS,
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(d) With knowledge of the contents thereof, possessing any writing, paper, instrument or
article of a kind commonly used in the operation or promotion of a bookmaking
scheme or enterprise and constituting, reflecting or representing more than five bets

totaling more than five thousand dollars in violation of New York Penal Law
§ 225.20;

(e) With knowledge of the contents thereof, possessing any writing, paper, instrument or
article of a kind commonly used in the operation or promotion of a bookmaking
scheme or enterprise in violation of New York Penal Law § 225.15;

(f) Misrepresenting that DraftKings complies with applicable laws; misrepresenting the
likelihood that an ordinary player will win a jackpot; misrepresenting the degree of

skill implicated in the games; and misrepresenting that DraftKings’ games are not

considered gambling, in violation of Executive Law § 63(12) and GBI §§ 349 and
350; and

(g) Conducting or transacting its business in a persistently fraudulent and illegal manner
in violation of BCL § 1303.

Pursuant to GBL §§ 349 and 350, DraftKings is afforded the opportunity to show orally
or in writing to this Office, within five business days of receipt of this notice, why the Attorney

General should not initiate any proceedings.
\f?jidy,_/_/

Kathleen McGee
Chief, Internet Bureau

ce: Stuart Shorenstein, Esq.
Alex Southwell, Esq.
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